
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Policy Overview 
Committee 

 
Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 

 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
 

Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held virtually at 5 p.m. on 

 
Tuesday 16 June 2020 

 
 
Details of how to access the meeting will be published along with this agenda on the 

Council’s web site or can be obtained by contacting Democratic Services. 

 
Managing Director 

8 June 2020 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
AGENDA 

 

Tuesday 16 June 2020 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 28 January 2020 (Pages 1 - 10) 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

 None  
 

 

6. Update on Health Care Services in Dartford   

 To receive presentations from representatives of the NHS Trust, DGS 
CCG and Virgin Care Ltd. 
 

 

7. Mental Health Services for Children and Young People (YPMHS)   

 To receive a presentation from representatives of NHS Kent & 
Medway CCG and the West Kent YPMHS.  
 

 

8. Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual Report 2018-19 
(Pages 11 - 36) 

 

 To receive the annual report and appendices and comment 
accordingly. 
 

 

9. Committee Annual Report 2019-20 (Pages 37 - 74)  

 To note the report and appendices and comment accordingly. 
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 
 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 28 
January 2020 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs. M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs. A E D Barham 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
 

 
ALSO 
PRESENT: 

Trish Chapman – Chair, Dartford Tenant’s and 
Leaseholder’s Forum 

 
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services) 

 Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager 
 

28. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Burrell and Butterfill 
(Substitute Cllr. Barham). 
 
The Chairman welcomed Patricia Chapman (Dartford Tenant’s and 
Leaseholder’s Forum) to the meeting and noted the presence of the Strategic 
Director (External Services) and the Waste & Parks Manager to respond to 
Members’ questions and concerns.  
 

29. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

30. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2019  
 
The Chairman advised Members of two points arising from the Minutes: 
 

(i) Urgent Care Services in Dartford, Gravesend & Swanley [Min. No 
22 refers]: following the public consultation exercise, the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley CCG had decided to fund Urgent 
Treatment Centres at both Darent Valley and Gravesham 
Community hospitals; 
 

(ii) Illegal Dumping, Enforcement and Household Waste Recycling 
Centres [Min. No 24 refers]: All qualifying businesses had received 
a letter from the Council’s Enforcement Manager reminding 
owner/occupiers that the Council’s waste and recycling service was 
for household waste, and that as a consequence, businesses were 
required to have commercial (trade) waste agreements in place for 
the collection and disposal of their waste. The letter further advised 
that from 10 February 2020, failure to comply with this requirement 
would lead to a fixed penalty notice fine of £300 or court 
proceedings.  

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the Minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held 

on 10 September 2019 be confirmed as accurate. 
 

31. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items for the Committee to consider. 
 

32. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider. 
 

33. REGULATION 9 NOTICE  
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Regulation Notice for the period 
15 January 2020 to 31 May 2020 as issued in the agenda papers. 

 
34. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

MEETING HELD ON 10 SEPTEMBER 2019  
 
The Chairman advised Members that all appropriate and relevant action had 
now been taken by Officers in relation to the five action points listed in the 
report, including the addition of relevant topics to the Committee’s Work Plan, 
for future consideration in March 2020. 
 
   RESOLVED: 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
1. That Members note the action taken by Officers as detailed in the 

report.  
 

35. THE LITTER SERVICE  
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn down the inter-related 
topics of the Council’s Litter and Recycling services for consideration by the 
Committee, given their importance to the Borough and its residents, but 
wished to deal with them separately.  
 
He proposed that the discussion on the Litter Service proceed on the basis 
that all Members had read the report presented by the Waste and Parks 
Manager (WPM), and that the author respond to questions, rather than 
present the report. 
 
In response to subsequent specific questions from the Chairman and 
Members, the WPM confirmed the following principal points: 
 

 The Council’s public website included a ‘litter portal’ which any resident 
could access to obtain the details of when their street was swept and 
when it was scheduled to be swept next, plus any other location in the 
borough for which the Council was responsible. The portal also 
provided a contact point for residents who had questions/were unsure 
whether a particular site was a Council responsibility or not (e.g. private 
land); 

 As a Principal Litter Authority (PLA) under s89 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, the Council had a duty to keep adopted public 
highway and owned land under their control clean as practically 
possible. This entailed the cleaning of some 1,000 plus roads on a 
staggered basis; residential roads 4 weekly, main roads fortnightly, 
town centres (Dartford, Longfield and Swanscombe) were cleaned 
daily. Roads on new estates were added to the Council’s street 
cleaning list, following adoption by Kent County Council; 

 The Council’s contractor Urbaser Ltd, undertook street cleaning under 
the terms of its Waste Collection and Street Cleaning contract (2019-
2024) using a variety of equipment including: 3 mechanical street 
cleaners with brushes, 5 caged transit vans with 2 operatives, 3 one 
man barrows in the town centres, plus 2 litter pickers on a roving basis 
through-out the borough; 

 Street cleaning was defined as the removal of litter and detritus (gravel, 
silt, leaves, etc.) as required. The Council did not clean ‘clean’ streets, 
rather it cleaned as required according to its published schedule. If a 
street was ‘clean’ the contractor moved onto the next scheduled 
location. Hand picking of litter remained the most effective solution. In 
addition to the 3 barrows patrolling the town centres, Urbaser had litter 
pickers on standby every day in Hi-Viz jackets, ready to respond to 
incidents of excessive littering on a needs basis, using litter sticks and 
green sacks; 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 The effectiveness of signage encouraging the public not to litter and to 
behave more responsibly was difficult to gauge, but the WPM 
undertook to consider the Member suggestion. 

 
Several Members expressed a variety of concerns over the current number 
and location of litter and dog bins, the regularity that bins were emptied, the 
need for litter bins at bus stops to lessen the perceived increases in 
incidences of food and drink littering at bus stops prior to passengers 
boarding buses, how to encourage businesses to be more litter-aware and 
prevent their customers from discarding packaging in the street environment, 
and how to tackle litter in alleyways - including the role of the Council over 
littering in privately owned alleyways. 
 
The WPM advised Members that 50 new (dual use) litter and dog bins had 
been provided across the borough in the preceding 12 month period. This 
brought the overall total up to 750 bins (of which some 100 were new) for 
some 109,000 Dartford residents. There was no known method to calculate 
the number of dog bins per population given the number of variable factors 
involved. He believed most locations had now been covered but undertook to 
listen to requests for further bins. He warned however, that for every request 
received [for a new litter/dog bin], the Council received at least one objection 
from a resident requesting that a litter bin not be situated near to their 
property. Regarding emptying - litter/dog bins were cleared at least once per 
week, but requests for a twice-weekly service would be considered.  
 
Regarding alleyways, most were private and as such, the Council did not 
clean them. However, the Council would provide support to private litter 
picking initiatives by residents (provided such exercises were deemed safe), 
with the provision of sticks, litter sacks and Hi-Viz jackets on request. He 
confirmed that the Council would also collect supermarket trolleys if advised 
of their location. 
 
The removal of fly-tipped sofas and white goods were the responsibility of 
Urbaser under the terms of their contract with the Council. Residents could 
advise Urbaser of the locations of such articles through the ‘litter portal’ on the 
Council website and request removal via Urbaser’s 2 day response Hit Squad. 
If articles were deemed a public danger, same day pick-up by Urbaser could 
be considered. It was crucial to report incidents and make requests via the 
Council’s litter portal, to get the details into the system quickly, and to enable 
retention for future reference e.g. to identify ‘litter hotspots’; rather than 
residents taking ad-hoc removal action. The Council also working closely and 
effectively with KCC’s Dartford Manager regarding fly tipping on the M25 and 
A2 roads which lay outside the Council’s area of direct responsibility.  
 
In response to a variety of further supplementary questions from Members, 
the WPM gave the following advice: 
   

  Urbaser cleared all recycling sites (including Temple Hill) three times 
per week according to a published schedule; 

 new increased signage advertising the location of recycling sites was 
being undertaken; 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 Vendors operating from private land/property could not be fined for 
littering by their customers in the street environment.  However, under 
the Council’s ‘Duty of Care’ regulations, vendors could be fined by the 
Council’s Enforcement Manager or prosecuted in court if, following 
inspection, they were found to have no commercial (trade) waste 
collection agreement in place for the collection and disposal of their 
waste, or had inadequate storage facilities for that trade waste prior to 
its collection; 

 Overflowing litter bins e.g. as observed by a Member in the Town 
centre,  should be reported to the Council by both Members and 
residents via the ‘street history’ tab in the litter portal litter ‘in-box’, or 
directly to the WPM by email, and action would be taken to adjust the 
scheduling for emptying it accordingly; 

 The Council monitored its contractors and all/any complaints over dog 
bins not being emptied to schedule would be investigated by the WPM, 
and collections increased to 2 per week if required; 

 Regarding the apparent increase in street litter following bin collections 
by the Council’s contractors, Members were advised that the Council 
had no ‘sidewaste’ policy regarding litter bin spillage. If contractors spilt 
contents during the collection process, they were bound under the 
contract terms to clean up. However, overflowing bins prior to collection 
were the responsibility of residents. 

 
The Chairman had circulated photos of selected alleyways in Heath, West Hill 
and Burnham Wards which suffered from indiscriminate littering. The locations 
were muddy and covered in weeds which, he believed, encouraged offending. 
He asked whether the Council could clear them and perhaps concrete them 
over.  
 
The WPM advised that if public land the Council or Kent Highways could 
consider action, but not if the property was private. He asked that the 
Chairman provide him with the exact locations and he would investigate 
further. 
 
In concluding the discussion, the Chairman expressed his thanks to the 
Waste and Parks Manager for his report and attendance that evening to 
respond to Members’ questions and concerns. He also noted that the WPM 
had attended and reported to Members on several occasions in the preceding 
months, and proposed that an annual update report to the Committee 
[January 2021] would now suffice to meet Members concerns going forward, 
and asked that the Committee’s Work Plan be updated to this effect. 
 
Members supported the Chairman in his proposal and expression of thanks to 
the Waste and Parks Manager. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report; 
 

2. That Members commend the Council’s proactive measures to tackle 
litter in the Borough and the specific efforts regarding: the cleaning of 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

street gutters, the increased provision of both litter and dog bins in the 
preceding 12 month period, the practical assistance given by the 
Waste & Parks Manager to volunteer groups undertaking litter picking 
(provision of sticks, sacks, gloves, rings, hi-vis jackets and subsequent 
collection of full litter sacks), the provision of 2 dedicated litter pickers 
under the terms of the Council’s litter contract with Urbaser; 

 
3. That Members commend the Council for issuing a ‘Care of Duty’ letter 

from the Enforcement Manager to all responsible businesses in 
Dartford, regarding the need to have commercial waste agreements in 
place for the collection and disposal of their waste; 
 

4. That the agreed Minutes of the meeting be referred to Cabinet with the 
specific recommendations that the Administration consider the case 
for: 
 

 a further increase in litter and dog bin provision across the 
Borough; 

 a further 2 litter pickers be employed by Urbaser in Dartford; 

 litter fines to be itemised for all Wards, with particular reference 
to residential Wards; 

 investigation to be undertaken to identify ‘litter hotspots’ and 
appropriate action considered; 

 increased signage to be provided regarding the provision and 
location of litter bins and other litter facilities; 

 
5. That Members receive an update report from the Waste and Parks 

Manager on the proposals as Minuted above in January 2021 and that 
the Committee’s Work Plan be updated to this effect. 

 
36. THE RECYCLING SERVICE  

 
The Chairman repeated his proposal for the Litter item [Min. No 35 refers] that 
discussion commence on the basis that all Members had read the report on 
the Council’s Recycling Service submitted by the Waste and Parks Manager 
(WPM) and that the Manager now respond to any questions from Members.  
  
He opened the discussion by referring Members to para 3.1 of the report 
which advised the Committee that the Council was a Waste Collection 
Authority (WCA) under s30 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, and that 
under the subsequent Household Waste Recycling Act 2003 the Council (as a 
WCA) had to recycle some of the waste it collected. Recycling was not 
therefore a new topic, but an obligation the Council had held for a 
considerable time. He referred Members to para 3.8 of the report and asked 
the WPM what assurance the Council had that the material it sent for 
recycling at the Viridor Materials Recycling Facility at Crayford, was in fact 
recycled. 
 
The WPM advised that it was difficult to gauge with any degree of certainty 
how much of the Council’s waste was in fact recycled. The Council collected 
some 9,000 tonnes of recyclable waste from the kerbside in 2018/19 which 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

formed part of an overall total of 150,000 tonnes of waste sent to Viridor, 
figures for 2019/20 were expected to be the same. The WPM recorded the 
amount of waste sent to Viridor for recycling on a daily basis, and submitted 
quarterly totals to the Government under the legislation requirements for a 
Waste Collection Authority (WCA). 
 
However, the Council played no part in the recycling process once the waste 
was delivered to Viridor who, as a private business and money-making 
concern, disposed of waste on the ‘spot market’. This was a complicated 
process which involved several factors that made it difficult to confirm how 
much of the Council’s waste was ultimately recycled and by whom. For 
example, tin cans were broken down into 6 different categories and paper into 
9 different categories, which impacted on the viability of recycling and 
sale/disposal via ‘spot market’ on any given day. In terms of end destination 
for recyclable waste, China had been the major buyer but no longer. Some 
75% of recyclable waste was now sold in the U.K. with Spain the major 
European buyer, but it was not possible for the Council to verify what was sold 
and to whom. To help reduce the Council’s carbon footprint, waste from the 
east side of the borough was sent to Pepperhill for reprocessing and waste 
from the west side of the town went to Viridor at Crayford. 
 
The Chairman thanked the WPM for his detailed explanation of the process 
undertaken by Viridor to dispose of the Council’s recyclable waste and asked 
whether the authority maintained targets for its recycling rates. He noted that 
the Corporate Plan – Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring 
Report, for Quarter 2 of the 2019/20 Municipal Year [agenda Item 10 p.45 
refers] - made no reference to a PI  for recycling rates, and asked if one could 
be added.  
 
The WPM informed Members that at present 25% of the Borough’s waste was 
sent for recycling and that 10% of the waste collected for recycling was non-
recyclable contaminants. 
 
In response to further specific questions and expressions of concern from 
Members, the WPM confirmed the following points: 
 

 The Government’s national target for recycling was 50% by 2020, but 
failure to meet it was not subject to penalty (or reward if exceeded); 

 Ashford Council had achieved a 55% recycling target but that included 
a food waste and free garden waste service; 

 The majority response from the public to the Council’s last (third) Big 
Bin Vote was that residents were happy with the current waste services 
offered and did not want a food waste service. There was therefore, no 
provision for a food waste service in the current contract with Urbaser 
(2019 to 2024); 

 50% of local authorities across the UK did not provide a food waste 
service to residents, but only two in Kent did not. There was currently 
no spare capacity for the Waste Disposal Authority (KCC) to accept 
food waste in Kent;  

 Whilst Dartford did not provide a food waste service to residents, 99% 
of all food waste from the borough was incinerated to generate 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

8 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

electricity at the ‘Energy for Waste’ plant at Allington in Maidstone. 
Incineration was the ‘least-worse’ option for disposal of waste and the 
incinerators at Allington had been retro-fitted to maximise efficiency 
and minimise emissions. Less than 1% of the overall waste collected 
by the Council went to landfill (the least-best option); 

 The Council did provide a Garden Waste collection for composting 
including – grass cuttings, leaves, twigs, fallen fruit, fruit and vegetable 
peelings; 

 The Council contractor Urbaser ran a mixed fleet of vehicles to suit all 
locations and road sizes. The vehicles were tracked and subject to 
video camera footage, to ensure that all kerbside waste collected was 
kept in split compartments for general waste and recycling and not 
cross-contaminated; 

 Regarding an ‘audit trail’ for recyclable waste, the Council delivered its 
waste to Viridor so had no control over the final destination of the 
waste, but the spreadsheet records submitted to Government showed 
that the majority remained in the U.K. and the balance went to Spain. 

 
The Strategic Director (External Services) reminded Members at this juncture, 
that the Council was a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) it was not 
responsible for the disposal of household waste collected. Kent County 
Council was the responsible Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for Dartford, the 
Council was only tasked with waste collection under the legislation [EPA 1990 
and HWRA 2003]. 
 
With regard to a food waste collection service, the topic had last been 
considered by Cabinet in March 2018 [Min. No 115 refers] and the decision 
taken not to provide a separate food waste service for a further 5 year period. 
 
In response to a final question from a Member, the WPM confirmed that all 
revenue from recycling accrued to KCC as the disposing authority, who in turn 
paid FCC Environment Ltd £110 per tonne for carrying out the waste disposal 
processes. FCC also gained revenue from the production of electricity [from 
food waste]. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director for her comments and the WPM 
for the further detail he had provided in response to Members’ questions, 
regarding the Council’s current recycling performance and the topic of a 
separate food collection service. 
  
In closing the discussion, the Chairman sought clarification from the WPM on 
a variety of food packaging items that he had brought to the meeting, and 
asked whether they were recyclable. 
 
The WPM referred Members to para 3.3 of his report, which listed a variety of 
mixed materials which could be collected under the Council’s kerbside 
collection service, and gave the following additional guidance to the 
Committee: 
 

 No polystyrene containers, wrapping cups etc.; 

 Any bottle, tub or tray (except black plastic – see below) if rinsed; 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

9 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 Metal and moulded products were collected together; 

 Lids could be kept on plastic bottles e.g. milk containers; 

 Labels could remain on plastic cartons/containers; 

 All/any paper and cardboard; 

 Any cans including aerosol cans provided they were empty; 

 No black plastic lids or cartons because black items could not be 
scanned for sorting [by light-sensor]; 

 No wax products e.g. candles. 
 
The WPM also undertook to consider posting pictures of recyclable products 
on the Council’s website, and re-instating the provision of a Council Recycling 
stand at the Dartford Festival. 
 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report; 
 

2. That the agreed Minutes of the meeting be referred to Cabinet for 
discussion, to include: 
 

 Consideration of how the Cabinet on behalf of the residents of 
Dartford satisfy themselves that material sent for recycling is 
actually recycled;  

 The addition of a performance indicator (PI) to the Council’s 
Quarterly Performance Indicator report for the 2017-20 
Corporate Plan and subsequent Corporate Plans; 

 That the Council’s Litter Portal be updated to include specific 
details on what containers and other items could be recycled; 

 Consideration of what further measures the Council could take 
to meet the Government’s 50% national recycling target for 2020 
for Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs).  

 
37. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

MONITORING REPORT, QUARTER 2 OF THE 2019/20 MUNICIPAL YEAR  
 
The report and appendices updated Members on the progress made with 
meeting the key actions and performance indicators for the Council’s 
Corporate Plan in the second quarter of the 2019/20 municipal cycle, as 
presented to Cabinet on 5 December 2019. 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the report as set out in detail in 
appendices A and B. 

 
38. WORK PLAN UPDATE  

 
The Chairman advised that the next meeting of the Committee in March would 
concentrate on health matters, including separate updates from 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 28 JANUARY 2020 

 

10 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

representatives of the DGS CCG, the D&G NHS Trust/Virgin Care on the 
health care provision they provided to Dartford residents. 
 
A separate presentation from West Kent CCG’s CAMHS team was also 
proposed, and the Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual Report for 
2018/19 would also be presented to Members, in addition to stock agenda 
items. 
 
He asked that the Cabinet Member for health matters be invited to attend the 
meeting. 
 
   RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the contents of the Committee’s current work plan 
for the remainder of the 2019/20 municipal cycle and beyond, as set 
out in Appendix A to the report; 

2. That Members receive an update report from the Waste and Parks 
Manager on the Council’s Litter Service in January 2021 [Min. No 35 
refers]; 

3. That Members receive an update report from the Waste and Parks 
Manager on the Council’s Recycling Service in January 2021 [Min. No 
36 refer]. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 8.40 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor M J Davis 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 10Agenda Item 3



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 JUNE 2020 
 

 

DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL 
REPORT 2018/19 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1  To update the Committee on the progress on the Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects, against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan, for 
the financial year 2018/19. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Committee note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 

Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2018/19. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. Borough councils have a vital role to play in contributing to reducing 
health inequalities and improving the health and wellbeing of its 
residents. Functions such as planning, housing, environmental health, 
leisure and community safety all have an impact on the health and 
wellbeing of local residents. 
 

3.2. Members will recall that the new Dartford Health Inequalities Action 
Plan (2015-2018) was agreed and adopted by this Committee on 15 
December 2015.  Local priorities were developed by the Dartford 
Health Inequalities Group (HIG) partners to deliver against targeted 
actions to meet local needs.  The preventative health projects delivered 
by this Council form part of this Action Plan.  A new three year Action 
Plan is being developed and will focus on similar priorities against 
updated health data sets for the Borough.  Actions within the existing 
Action Plan continue to be monitored. 

3.3. Dartford Borough Council has been commissioned by Kent Public 
Health since 2008 to deliver a range of preventative health projects as 
part of a continuing annual Service Level Agreement.  This work is 
monitored quarterly through outcome monitoring submissions to Kent 
County Council.  The projects include healthy weight programmes and 
the promotion of mental wellbeing and community cohesion.   

3.4. A summary of the preventative health project outcomes achieved in 
2018/19 can be found in the Progress Report at Appendix A. Evidence 
and case studies can be found at Appendix B. These outcomes relate 
to the priorities identified within the Dartford Health Inequalities Action 
Plan.  

3.5. The Health Inequalities Action Plan sets out six overarching objectives 
to reduce health inequalities across the Borough.  The local priorities 
identified under each objective are: 

Page 11 Agenda Item 8



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 JUNE 2020 
 

 

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children; 

 Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 
fulfilled lives; 

 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces; 

 Provide the right support at the right time including financial and 
debt support;  

 Develop our communities to be healthy places; 

 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications In 2018/19 the Council received £120,258 of 
Public Health funding to deliver preventative 
health work in the borough from Kent County 
Council.  The amount of £9,000 was included in 
this total to deliver Workplace Health initiatives. 
The Public Health funding for 2019/20 and 
2020/21 has been confirmed at the same level 
with a 2% reduction, totalling £117,852.84 per 
annum. 

 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications The Dartford Health Team Leader and One You 
Advisers are externally funded by Kent County 
Council’s Public Health Directorate through an 
annual grant allocation for this Borough. 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment Inability to deliver against the service 
specifications set by Kent Public Health could 
result in the loss of budget and the termination of 
one or more of the funded projects. 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Page 12Agenda Item 8



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

16 JUNE 2020 
 

 

Appendix A - Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan progress report 
(2018/19);  
 
Appendix B – Evidence and Case Studies 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018) 

POC 
12/12/17 

Hayley Brooks 
(01732) 227272 
 
 

Communities & 
Business Team 
(Sevenoaks District 
Council – shared 
service) 

N/A 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



APPENDIX A 

Page 1 of 14 
 

Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report (2018/19) 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Objective 1: 

Give every child 
the best start in 
life 

Local Priority: Promote Healthy Weight for Children 

Actions: 1. Support families to maintain a healthy weight. 
2. Improve local healthy weight care pathways. 
3. Maximise opportunities with school Public Health Nursing teams. 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

Delivery of ‘Don’t Sit, Get Fit’ (DSGF) Family Weight Management Programme 
A targeted programme to work with families was delivered in primary schools, in partnership 
with the National Child Measurement Programme and School Public Health nursing Team. 
DSGF Delivered in two targeted schools: 

 Temple Hill Primary School  3 Families completed the course  

   Fleetdown Primary School   6 families  completed the course  
The Don’t Sit Get Fit Team have continued to work with Manor Primary School  
 Appendix B Write Up from Michelle-(Family Liaison Officer)   

Issues: Newly commissioned School Nursing Team and structure being put in place by Kent County 
Council, new contract being delivered by KCHFT (Kent Community Health Foundation Trust), 
an NHS Provider.  This created some delays in getting the new programmes running with 
schools, in line with the updated child weighing and measuring programme.    
 

Objective 2:  

Support older 
people to keep 
them safe, 
independent and 
living fulfilled lives 

 

Local Priority: Partnership interventions to support older people to live independent  

Action: 1. Develop Alzheimer’s and Dementia Friendly Communities, provide services and activities 
to support sufferers and carers. 

2. Postural Stability Deliver effective local services for falls prevention and support individuals 
to improve self-management of long term conditions. 

3. Support the Dartford’s Elder’s Forum. 
4. Disabled Facilities Grant And Discretionary Assistance Grants 
5. The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal 

 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 2 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Dementia Friendly Communities 
Ongoing support for local Alzheimer’s and Dementia awareness support groups. Linking in 
with organisations, signposting individuals and carers requiring support. Also signposted 
organisations and business that require Training: 
Annual total number of people attending the dementia café in Dartford for 2018/19 exceeded 
the number for 2017/2018.  However, due to a change in reporting procedures it was difficult 
to get a direct accurate comparison for 2018/19: 
• 126 People with Dementia 2017/18  
• 138 Carers of people with Dementia 2017/18  
 
2. Postural Stability 
Dartford Borough Council ran two Community based Postural Stability classes during the week 
at different locations in the Borough.  
During 2018/19 there were: 
• 81 sessions.  
• 700 attendances. 
• An increase on last year 
 
3. Elders’ Forum 
Elders’ Forum has grown to become one of the most successful events of its kind in the South 
East targeted at the elderly.  The Elders’ Forum currently has 180 members on the system. 
There were two meetings held during the 201819 period. The events enable engagement 
with residents in the Borough. Examples of the topics presented are: 

 Kent Fire Authority – safety in the home.  

 NHS – integration of services consultation. 

 Solar heating – benefits/cost savings.     

 KCC – Adult social care. 

 NatWest Bank – banking fraud prevention. 

 Home adaptations and equipment in the home 
 
 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 3 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

4. Disabled Facilities Grant  (DFG) And Discretionary Assistance Grants 
A DFG is a mandatory Grant limited to £30,000 towards the costs of providing adaptations 
and facilities which include access into and around the property and main rooms used by the 
disabled person. Appendix B Table: 1 Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance 
Grant. 

5. The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal 
This scheme was introduced under the new ECO2 Government Programme.  Dartford 
Borough Council issued its first Statement of Intent (a requirement of LA Flex stating the 
eligibility criteria for Dartford) in July 2017.  The LA Flex focus is on people with a low income 
and whose health is impacted by living in a cold home.  It’s very different from previous 
schemes where the focus has been on people in receipt of specific benefits and we have 
found LA Flex is reaching more vulnerable people.  In Early 2018 the Dartford Safe and 
Secure Grant was developed using Better Care Funding – some residents due to their age 
and health condition are also eligible for funding from the Safe and Secure Grant to top up the 
cost of a boiler replacement in addition to the LA Flex monies which in most cases means the 
resident (if eligible) receives a boiler at no cost to themselves.  
Some of the LA Flex cases are very complex – gas connections and first time central heating 
is a lengthy process and some of the cases referred through the Hospital Discharge Scheme 
have highlighted hoarding issues in properties which has delayed the ability to put heating in 
to a property. 
Appendix B Table: 2 Collective Switching  
Appendix B Table: 3 Local Authority Flexible Eligibility Breakdown April 2018 TO March 
2019. HECA report around Energy Efficiency and fuel poverty measures 
 
 

Issues:  
 
 
 
 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 4 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Objective 3:  

Create fair 
employment & 
good work for all 

Local Priority: Support businesses to have healthy workplaces 

Action: 1. Support Kent Healthy Businesses Award Scheme to increase the number of local 
businesses taking part. Ensure businesses and workplaces are safe.  

2. Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers. 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Dartford  Kent Healthy Business award scheme 
The Work place health is led by D. Notal Health Improvement Practitioner who is based at 
The Grand Healthy Living Centre in Gravesend.  
from April 2018 to March 2019: 

 25 Businesses engaged.   

 10 Set 3 pledges for small changes, including number of those defined as Routine and 
Manual and Micro Businesses.   

 11 Made the changes as set out in their 3 pledges, including number of those defined as 
Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses.  

 3 Businesses completed a policy review to embed workplace health, including number of 
those defined as Routine and Manual and Micro Businesses. 

2. Smoking Prevalence in Dartford 

The DBC Health Team Lead works closely with KCHFT to collect data for The Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action plan. They report on figures relating to the objective Reduce the smoking 
prevalence among routine and manual workers. The Health team Lead also sits on the Kent 
Tobacco Control Alliance Group.  This group has reported a decrease in smoking statistics in 
the Dartford area. 

KCHFT Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers 

 195 Number of quits (clients living in Dartford) per financial year (1/4/18 – 31/3/19).  

 58 of the 195 were from RTM workers. 

Issues:  
 
 
 

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 5 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Objective 4: 

Ensure healthy 
standards of living 
for all 

Local Priority: Provide the right support at the right time including financial & debt support.  

Action:  Provide financial advice and training on how to best manage debts and household 
budgets. 

  Dartford HERO Project. 

 Citizens Advice Bureau.  

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 
 

1. Dartford HERO Project 
 Break down of cases whereby the issues/challenges where identified, not all cases had 
barriers or declared an issue. Captured outcomes for is period 2018/2019: 
18 Cases prevented from becoming homeless.  
163 cases referred into service for this period. 
 
Further breakdown of cases,  

 

 9 Domestic abuse.  

 1 Eating disorders. 

 1 PTSD.  

 7 Recognised mental Health. 

 1 Students. 

 3 Physical Ill health.  

 1 Bereavement. 

 2 Isolation.  

 1 Ex-offenders.  

 3 Persons from abroad.  

 1 Gambling.  

 1 Anxiety.  

 1 ADHD.  

 1 Alcohol.  

 1 Depression.  

 1 Self-confidence.  

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 6 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 1 Long term unemployed.  

 1 Self-employment.  

 1 Learning disabilities.  

 1 Language. 

 2 ASD.  

 2 Drug abuse.  

 3 ASB.  

 123 cases engaged and seen. 

 123 cases given budgeting advice. 

 7 secured work whilst engaged with service (one case long term unemployed secured 2 
jobs). 

 19 cases maximised benefits. 
This information is collated over 2 services (rents / housing Solutions). 
 
2. Citizens Advice Bureau   

Uptake of support from the Citizens Advice Bureau.  

 964 Clients received advice with benefits or debt issues 
 

Issues:  
 

Objective 5:  

Create & develop 
healthy 
sustainable places 
& communities 

Local Priority: Develop our communities to be healthy places  

Action: 1. Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and active recreation.  
2. Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way.  
3. Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the 

conditions for communities to flourish. Salute To Youth Grants. 
Effective partnership working in with GPs, KCHFT, schools, MIND, Charities 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Sport and Leisure Facilities-Fairfield Leisure Centre  
 

 Sporting provision is a priority for Dartford’s community grant scheme Holiday activity 
programme.  

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 7 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 Summer Sizzler’s Promotion of free or low cost physical activity opportunities in the 
borough through Get Active.  

 Set up initiatives for a healthy happier Dartford. 

 Co-ordination and expansion of GP exercise referral scheme in the Borough. 

 Implementation of Dartford Core Strategy - part of the Local Development Framework. 

 Improved facilities and activities in parks and open spaces. 

 Supporting communities to enhance, look after, be actively involved in and access their 
local green spaces e.g. environmental projects or ‘Friends of’ groups. 

 Deliver a programme of activities and events to increase accessibility e.g. educational and 
health walks across the Borough. e.g. Naturally Active Project. 

 Promotion of annual Dartford Festival to encourage community involvement.  
 
2018-19 saw Fairfield’s 3rd full year of operation under Places Leisure (company running 
Fairfield’s Leisure centre) has shown continued popularity of the centre, with visits to the 
centre ever increasing on past year’s figures. Centre capacities are very high with new 
activities and opportunities to expand the service offering becoming more limited. This is 
driven by the overall positive view on the standard of facilities and developments implemented 
since the 2016 reopening. 
Main centre developments over the last year were directed at the fitness proposition with the 
expansion of the gym area, relocation of the cycle studio and introduction of a virtual studio 
class service. The £260,000 capital investment has positively impacted the much-needed 
increase in equipment and space on the gym floor, as well as, enabled the leisure centre to 
provide an “off peak” group exercise service at a viable cost.  
Customer feedback is constantly monitored through a variety of methods. Main themes that 
come through are that the centre is at a good standard and offers great value. Customers will 
regularly praise staff for the service received through feedback directed to management. The 
main negative feedback has been directed at services that are put under pressure due to the 
high use, items including car parking availability, bookings availability, service times during in 
busy periods.  

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 8 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Places Leisure continue to have a strong working relationship with Dartford Borough Council 
and have found the support offered when issues have arisen to be very positive. It is very 
pleasing that options to develop the service and facility at Fairfield have been supported. 
 
Membership and Utilisation Data.  
Between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 2019. 
Fairfield received 514,868 visits driven mainly by gym visits at 163,780. 
Swimming visits at 85,101, with 20,881 for other activities.  

 
Membership numbers across all headings continue to exceed expectations with fitness 
memberships reaching a peak since opening at the end of March 19 of 3767, a growth of 297 
from the same point the previous year. The same can be said for swimming lessons, also, 
continuing to find new heights of 2076 a growth of 54 from previous year.  
 
The membership numbers at the end of the year, shows a very high proportion of use by 
Dartford residents. Appendix B Table 4 Membership Types Fairfield Leisure Centre. 
 
2. Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way 
Using Spatial Environment planning in the promotion of healthy environments and active 
travel - DBC continue to provide inclusive playgrounds and facilities in parks and open spaces 
to encourage public usage.  There are currently a number of Green gyms in various parks to 
encourage healthy environments. During the last quarter QTR4 18/19, DBC carried out a 
refurbishment of the water play and the ball court area within Central Park at a cost of 
approximately £64,000.  
The DBC Sports Development officer, DBC Planning Dept. and Health Team Lead sit on the 
Sports and Physical Activity Strategy-Active Ebbsfleet Forum. The DBC team has made a 
contribution to the development of the sports and physical activity strategy vision and for the 
Garden City. It will help us build on the identified priority actions and support the mobilisation 
of the implementation plan. 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 9 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

3 Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the 
conditions for communities to flourish  Dartford Borough Council Community 
Grants/Salute To Youth  

 Through the DBC Community Grants scheme, 16 organisations were successful in 
receiving a share of £15,500, which met the category ‘Provide and promote opportunities 
for sport, leisure and active recreation.’ 

 Through the DBC Salute to Youth, 3 organisations were successful in receiving a share of 
£7,400, which met the category ‘Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and 
active recreation.’ 

Kent Active Partnership 
Dartford Borough Council is a partner within the Active Partnership administered by Kent 
Sport which manages a number of funding streams, both via Sport England core funded work, 
and work supported by Kent County Council. This section of the report outlines the main 
funding streams administered by Kent Sport, and the benefits to Dartford from each funding 
stream in 2018-19. 

 Capital Grants in 2018-19, 1 grant awarded of the value of £5,000 was made to an 
organisation in Dartford. 

 Small Grants in 2018-19, 3 of these grants was allocated in Dartford, with a value of £664. 

 Kent Sport Connect by the end of 2018-19, there were 813 clubs registered with Kent 
Sport Connect across the county, with 35 of these clubs located in Dartford. 

 Coaches Register by the end of 2018-19, the register had 739 coaches on it, with 2 of 
these coming from Dartford.  

 Project 500 In Kent, there were 26 new registrations in 2018-19, 1 of these coming from 
Dartford. 

 Kent Sport Workshop’s organises and delivers a programme of education courses/forums 
aimed at coaches and club officials. In 2018-19, 27 workshops/forums were run in Kent, 
with 503 people attending. 1 workshop were held in Dartford, with 18 attendees. 

 Workplace Challenge, now replaced with the new SportSuite Activity Tracker. In total 354 
had registered for the Activity Tracker with 2 from Dartford. 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 10 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 Free Access to National Sports People (FANS) Scheme. There are 516 athletes on the 
FANS database and of these, 8 are based in Dartford. Within Kent, access arrangements 
have been agreed for the FANS members to use 67 facilities, with four being in Dartford. 

 Talented Performers in Dartford, 2 grants were awarded, to the value of £275. 

 Satellite Clubs in Dartford, there are 16 Satellite Clubs registered, and a total of £19,167 
invested. 

 Primary School Sports Premium. Over the course of 2018-19, £10,223,510 was allocated 
across Kent, with £533,440 allocated to Primary Schools in Dartford.  

 In January 2019, Kent Sport the Primary PE conference, in total, 13 schools from Dartford 
were represented at the conference. 

 Kent School Games & School Games. During 2018-19, 16 schools in Dartford took part in 
School Games finals. For the Kent School Games, 49 schools were involved in either 
heats, finals or both. 

 In total, 177 individual participants from Dartford took part in School Games finals 
events (79 boys, and 98 girls), while 168 individual participants from Dartford participated 

      in Kent School Games events (60 boys, and 108 girls). 

 To support the delivery of the Kent School Games and School Games locally, each School 
Games Organiser was given a grant to assist with young leader training programme with 
transport, equipment, publicity material and venue hire. In 2018-19, 2 grants, to the value 
of £4,000, was awarded to SGOs in Dartford. 

4. Effective partnership Working-GP’s,  KCHFT, Schools,  MIND, Charities 

Dartford Festival Saturday 13th July & Sunday 14th July 2018.  This annual event is used as an 
opportunity to engage with visitors to promote health.    

DBC One You Kent Advisors use the Smoothie bike as an engagement tool to signpost and 
promote NHS Health Checks and health initiatives in the Borough. 
 

 

Issues:  
 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 11 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

Objective 6:  

Strengthen the 
role and impact of 
ill health 
prevention  

Local Priority: Reduce the gap in health inequalities across social gradients  

Action: 1. Focus on improving the health of those at the bottom of the social gradient at the fastest 
rate. 

2. Deliver services and promote the benefits of a healthy diet and active lifestyle to reduce 
obesity and related co-morbidities. 

3. Promote sensible drinking and ensure treatment services are accessible for all. 
 
 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. One You Kent integrated Adult Healthy Lifestyle Service 
The One You Kent Integrated Adult Healthy Lifestyle Service moved away from separately 
commissioned services which focused on individual lifestyle behaviours such as being 
overweight and smoking. The result is the delivery of the integrated service that focuses on 
Losing weight, Getting fitter, Stop smoking, alcohol consumption, Improving mental wellbeing, 
housing, and debt advice. This has created greater collaborative working streams with key 
partners to deliver shared goals. 
An example of this integrated collaborative work is that the KCHFT Stop smoking service 
team were based at Dartford Borough Council offices on a weekly basis supporting local 
residents and staff. This has allowed us as partners to develop a personalised approach that 
supports individuals with complex needs, and address the barriers preventing people to 
making positive lifestyle choices.  

Appendix B Case Studies One You Kent 

2. Why Weight - Adult Weight Management 

The programme is a 12 week course, delivered by nutritionists and exercise specialists across 

the Dartford Borough.  Each week is comprised of an hour’s group discussion around a 

specific topic (food labelling, food content etc.) and an hour’s gentle exercise class.   The aim 

of the adult weight management service specification is to sustain a long term movement 

towards and maintenance of 5-10% body weight loss amongst overweight or obese adults. 

 10 Adult healthy weight programmes ran in wards with high indexes of deprivation.  

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 12 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 170 was the total of people recruited Year to Date.  

 133 people engaged on the programme.  

 74 completed the programme. 

 67 people lost <3% of their own body weight.   

 25 people lost between 3 - 4.9% of their own body weight. 

 17 people lost 5% plus of their own body weight. 

 6 people reported that they had decided to join the gym for the year. 
Appendix B Case studies from 3 participants of the Why Weight.  
 
Get Active Community Exercise Classes 

The Get Active For a Healthier Happier Dartford project was originally based on findings of a 

social marketing project which was undertaken in the borough in 2009.  The overall aim of the 

project is to increase the residents’ knowledge of physical activity opportunities in the borough 

by promoting free and low-cost opportunities.  

 124 Community Classes delivered.  

 1362 Attendances. 

 49 Male attendances.  

 1313 Female attendances. 

 566 Attendees.  
This number of attendances and attendees have increased on the previous year of 
217/2018. 
Health Walks 7 Health Walks operated at 5 different locations In 2018/19 
Dartford Health Walk programme is an accredited scheme which is part of the national Walking 
for Health initiative (WFH).  It began in February 2010 and now consists of seven walks.  The 
walks are all ran by volunteers. The health walks have a strong relationship with the local mental 
health charities and receive referrals. 

 328 Walk sessions ran throughout the year.  

 2960 Attendances.  

 980 Males.  

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 13 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 1980 Females. 

 1260 Attendees. 

 99 New walkers.  

 1 New health walk was set up. 
This number of attendances and attendees has increased on the previous year.  
As a direct result of Walk Leader training sessions being offered by Dartford Borough 
Council a new walk was set up in the later part of 2018 in the Swanscombe Ebbsfleet 
Area.  
 
3 Health Inequalities Group (HIG) 
The members of the HIG have continued to increase. This allows DBC and the One You Kent 

Advisors to have good networking links with numerous organisations and promote our, and 

our partners’ services and programmes.  

 20 Key local partners from a range of Voluntary sectors and community groups are a 

major part of the HIG.  

 Links are made with our key partners such as GP surgeries. Promoting programmes to 

enable referrals to be made. Flyers and leaflets displayed in prominent areas in surgeries    

has proved very successful in targeting different groups of individuals. 

 The One You Kent Advisors are now based at two of our local surgeries and receive direct 

referrals from GPs. Information of all our programmes is also shared with other key 

partners and health professionals across the district. These include KCHFT and the NHS 

Health Check Team 

 The Libraries in Dartford are a key focal point for locals to access information about the 

programmes and events currently running in the Borough. These are places that DBC has 

often supported MIND on World Mental Health Awareness days.  

 The Healthy Living Centre based in the community of Dartford, is in an ideal location for 
promotional activity.  This allows DBC and HLC to promote and target different groups. 

Fairfield Leisure Centre Wellness programmes 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A 

Page 14 of 14 
 

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford 

 

 Health and Wellness programme at Fairfield Leisure Centre Supporting individuals to 
improve self-management of long term conditions a 12 week health and wellbeing 
programme run by specialists Level 4 Instructors, working with a variety of health 
conditions. Offering supervised gym sessions. Health Matters programme Supports 
individuals to improve self-management of long term conditions. 

85 People joined the GP referral scheme. 
 
 
 

Issues: Mental health issues and additional learning needs are recognised and identified by One You 
Kent advisors as being highly prevalent in the Dartford Area.  

Personal mental health and many common mental health disorders are shaped by a variety of 
social, economic and physical factors. 

Health inequalities are the result of a mixture of factors including: 
• The long-term effects of a disadvantaged social position. 
• Differences in access to information, services and resources. 
• Differences in exposure to risk. 
• Lack of control over one’s own life circumstances. 
• A health system that may reinforce social and economic inequalities. 

(Dartford Borough Health Inequalities Action Plan 
2016-18)   

 

 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 8



Appendix B 

Objective 1: Give every child the best start in life - Local Priority: Promote 

Healthy Weight for Children  

Write Up - Don’t Sit Get Fit Programme - Manor Primary School - Write Up from 

Michelle FLO (School Liaison Officer) regarding a child engaging on the Don’t 

Sit Get Fit Programme 

Child E is an 11 year old girl currently in year 6 and looking to transfer to secondary 

school in July.  She has displayed challenging behaviour at home and can clash with 

her siblings and mother.  However, we do not witness this behaviour in school.  Child 

E’s has had problems developing friendships with her peers. This may have 

manifested as a result of her appearance. She can at times appear untidy and 

unkempt. 

Historically Child E’s has a BMI of >30.  Parent have sought support from their GP 

about this issue but Child E was hiding food in her room and had a very negative 

attitude towards food. 

Issues became so intense at home, Child E’s mother contacted Children’s Social 

Care to inform them that she was unable to parent Child E and keep her safe but the 

family did not meet thresholds.  With more support from school the family began to 

work with Early Help. 

Child E had been part of Expression Sessions the previous term. These sessions 

look at social emotional behaviour through the genre of physical exercise, and was a 

successful team player.   

The team explained to child E why she had been invited back to the group and what 

her role would be within the group.  Child E took great pride and engaged with the 

new group of children.  She was able to guide them and reassure them and became 

an extremely positive role model, whom the other members of the group aspired too. 

Although heavier than the other children Child E was never afraid to try new 

activities, even if it meant leaving her comfort zone.  She strived to be the best she 

could be in each session while guiding and being an extremely good leader to other 

children. 

Her confidence grew so much during these sessions that she went on to become a 

member of the afterschool club.  Again in this group, she has been able to transfer 

what she has learnt in Expression Sessions.  She continues to display confidence, 

maturity and leadership. 

Child E is now choosing a healthier lifestyle and these results have now started to 

show.  Mentally, physically and emotionally, her behaviour at home has also 

improved. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 8



Objective 2: Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their 

capabilities and have control over their lives - Local Priority: Support older 

people to keep them safe & living fulfilled independent lives 

 

Table: 1 Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant 

Grant Number Paid Installed 

Discretionary Assistance 

Grant 

9 Grants £41,983.00 7 X Stair Lift  

22 X Flush Floor Shower 

Disabled Facilities Grants 28 Grants £205,818.00 7 x Stair lift 

9 x stair lift 

1 x through floor lift 

2 x flush floor shower 

1x Closomat wash/dry 

WC 

1 x Access 

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

Table: 2 Collective Switching  

Auction round  Average saving Sum of saving Number of 

switchers  

Number of 

registrants 

May 2018 £228.47 £9138.71 40 162 

October 2018 £124.08 £3846.47 32 164 

February 2019 £177.08 £8178.86 46 175 

The sum of saving is for actual switches through the scheme – it doesn’t take in to 

account people who registered, received an offer then negotiated a better deal with 

their current supplier.  It also doesn’t take in to account people who registered 

through a generic Kent Energy Deal account – the Dartford data is extrapolated from 

the overall Kent Energy Deal data and added to our final figures at a much later date 

when all new individual energy contracts are in place. 

 

 

 

Page 30Agenda Item 8



 

Table: 3 Local Authority Flexible Eligibility Breakdown APRIL 2018 TO MARCH 

2019. HECA report around Energy Efficiency and fuel poverty measures 

 No of 

Measures 

CERO 

funding 

HHCRO 

funding 

LA Flex 

funding 

Council 

Better Care 

Funding 

Client 

contribution 

Dartford Borough Council Generated Installs 

Cavity wall 

insulation 

19 £1,729.46 £2,326.59 £18,557.28 0 £1,936.10 

Heating 9 0 £2,526.77 £8,325.31 £19,604.89 £1,779.85 

Loft Insulation 16 £444.30 £3,036.00 £4,769.73  £1,117.30 

TOTAL  £2,173.76 £7,889.36 £31,652.32 £19,604.89 £4,833.25 

Kent Warm Homes Generated leads  

Cavity wall 

insulation 

1 £393.84    £518.34 

Heating 0      

Loft insulation 2 £750.39    £518.34 

Total  £1,144.23    £1,036.68 

 

 

 

 

Objective 5: Create & develop healthy sustainable places & communities - 

Local Priority: Develop our communities to be healthy places 

Table 4 Membership Types Fairfield Leisure Centre 

Membership type DBC Residents (DA1/DA2/DA3/DA4/DA9/DA10) Non-residents 

Gym/all inclusive 3390 (90%) 376 (10%) 

Swim 631 (95%) 32 (5%) 

Swim Lessons 1972 (95%) 104 (5%) 

Saver Cards 2514 (99%) 26 1%) 

 

 

 

 

Page 31 Agenda Item 8



 

Why Weight Case Studies 

Case Study 1 QTR 1 Miss J  

Before I started the programme I felt desperate for a change. Having left a physically 

abusive relationship and after giving birth to my first child I fell into a deep 

depression. During this time from 2015-2016 I moved into a women’s refuge, began 

taking antidepressants and underwent therapy.  

Still somehow even though I managed to achieve a lot through this tough time, such 

as resolving past issues, securing a house and learning to drive I still felt terrible and 

would suffer huge bouts of depression. I think this was because I gained 5 stone in 

weight and simply had lost all body confidence. I avoided meeting up with old friends 

because I did not feel like myself and was embarrassed about my body. I avoided 

work opportunities because I was afraid of commitment due to my sheer lack of 

energy and confidence. So in a bid to help myself come out of this last phase of 

recovery I spoke to my GP and we decided a gym referral was the way forward.  

12 weeks later I am a stone down and 14 cm smaller around the waist. I have fallen 

back in love with taking care of myself and my confidence has grown. I feel inspired 

and ready to make new goals but most importantly I feel I have the confidence to 

achieve them. Thank you to the why weight team as they’ve helped me to love and 

care for myself again. 

Case Study 2  Qtr 2 Dennis 

Dennis’ weight loss journey started over 2 years ago when at 133.5kgs (21 stone) 

and diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, his diet had spiraled out of control and his 

general health was in disarray. 

He was signposted to the Council’s Adult Why Weight Management Programme via 

his GP.  

Dennis has lost approximately 7 stones in weight with help from the Why Weight 

team at Dartford Borough Council. 

Dennis determinedly attended the initial course of 12 weeks, consisting of a single 2 

hour session each week and 1:1 support via a One You Kent advisor.  Dennis has 

triumphantly achieved the two goals he originally set out for himself; his GP has 

confirmed he no longer has type 2 diabetes, and his weight is now at 87.5kgs (13 

stone 11lbs) meaning he has lost an incredible 100 lbs. Dennis has maintain his 

weight loss and continues to attend the Why Weight follow-on subsidised exercise 

class ran by Dartford Borough Council. 

Page 32Agenda Item 8



 

Article in Local paper reporting Dennis’s Success Story Case Study 3 

 

Case Study 3 Qtr 4 Mr F  

Mr F was referred into the One You Programme by his GP after being hospitalised 

with pneumonia and recently being diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes. Mr F attended a 

1-2-1 appointment and his goals were discussed and his main goal was to reduce 

his weight as he was struggling with his breathing and was worried about the impact 

his weight had on his recent health problems. The Why Weight Programme was 

suggested to Mr F and he decided to join up and he also wanted his wife to join as 

she had some weight to lose and health concerns of her own. 

Mr F has become more active and especially more confident in engaging with 

physical activity. Mr F was very worried in the first week of Why Weight and told the 

instructor that he didn’t know if he would be able to keep up with the class. By the 

end of the programme Mr F said that the exercise had become one of his favourite 

parts of the week and he and his wife had signed up to join the gym, something they 

both admit they thought they would never do.  

Mr F lost 18kg in weight and reduced his BMI. He said that he found breathing to be 

a lot easier, he found he had more energy and he and his wife were both enjoying 

finding out more about healthy foods. He was especially happy that his diabetes 

nurse had told him that he was now in remission.  

Mr F’s wife reported that she originally joined to support her husband as she was 

very worried about his health but she has really enjoyed the process herself and she 

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



is pleased to have lost some weight along the way. They are now both looking 

forward to enjoying the gym and continuing their new healthy lifestyle.  

Mr F has reduced many of his co-morbidities and has reported that his lifestyle has 

become healthier overall. Mr F has now joined the local gym to continue his journey 

and he has also tried a Health Walk which he enjoyed and says that he wants to 

keep up over the warmer months. 

 

 

 

One You Kent Case Studies 

OYK Case Study 1- Dartford QTR 2 Mrs H 

Mrs H was referred to One You by her GP at Pilgrims Way Surgery where an advisor 

is based once a week. Mrs H is in her 80’s and is chair and bedbound. She is a 

frequent caller to the surgery and the GP referral was mainly to tackle her loneliness 

and social isolation as they believed this was the reason she was calling the surgery 

so often. 

Mrs H is chair and bed bound after suffering a stroke a few years ago. She is living in 

a small bungalow which is dirty and soiled from when her son cleared her garden. 

She is suffering from loneliness as she doesn’t have any frequent visitors or friends 

she can speak to apart from her carers. We collaborated with the Dartford Housing 

Hub to look at how we could help her living situation and found that she wasn’t 

claiming Council Tax and that she could claim this discount but also received a 

backdated refund. Age UK Handypersons service have been organised to help clean 

her house to make her living situation better. The befriending service from Age UK 

have also put Mrs H on the waiting list so she should have a befriender visit within a 

few months. 

 

OYK Case Study 2- Dartford QTR 3 Lorraine 

Lorraine was referred via her GP at Temple Hill Surgery.  The GP referral form 

suggested she needed support for: Severe debt / financial support / Mild mental 

health / Isolation / Hoarding Issues. 

Lorraine B went to her GP at Temple Hill as she was feeling suicidal. 

Lorraine had lost her job approx. 6 months ago, had not paid her mortgage for a year 

and was in arrears with her council tax. 

She had not opened any mail in over two years and informed me she was a hoarder 

Page 34Agenda Item 8



Bailiffs had been at her door twice and she was contemplating suicide because she 

could not face her situation anymore. 

Lorraine was suffering from mental health issues. 

Lorraine was contacted by a One You Advisor and spoken to on the 30/10/2018. 

She said she was desperate for help and was very upset. 

A joint appointment was made for Lorraine with a One You Kent advisor and Mike 

Williams the Housing Inclusion Officer for the 7th November 2018. 

Housing advised us that Lorraine was in substantial Council Tax arrears.  

The Hero officer dealt straight away with her Universal credit application. Gave her 

advice and a letter to present in court to stop her house being repossessed. 

The Hero Officer and the One You advisor supported her with getting some 

interviews for work. 

 A list of NHS dentists were supplied to Lorraine which she said she needed in order 

to help her with her confidence for her interviews (Lorraine had recently fallen off her 

bike and had broken 4 of her front teeth). 

Lorraine was also given details of where to get support for her mental health. 

Lorraine was in a better place mentally –The courts had accepted she would start to 

pay her mortgage and gave her payment postponement for an agreed period, as a 

result of the letter that Mike had written.   She had been to couple of Job interview 

set up via Denise the Skills advisor. She asked to get help started for the hoarding 

issues.  

 

OYK Case Study 3- Dartford QTR 3 Miss M  

Miss M’s referral to One You Dartford came via Temple Hill surgery, her local 

practice. She was suffering with depression/anxiety, and needed weight 

management as well as social isolation support. 

Miss M accessed the surgery for increasing the dosage of her prescription 

antidepressants. She started taking them after her mum passed away in early 2018, 

which came just after a death of another relative in 2017. She was co-habiting the 

property with her brother, but since her mum passed, they have been on the waiting 

list at Dartford Borough Council housing for a smaller property in Dartford.  She 

became more isolated in the property since her mum passed, as she rarely leaves 

the house, only to get food shopping with a friend. This is because she feels self-

conscious when she leaves the house, as she is overweight and suffers from HS 

(hidradenitis suppurativa). 

Page 35 Agenda Item 8



Miss M has now completed all of her sessions with the stop smoking advisor, and 

has encouraged others to quit smoking with her. She has been cigarette free for over 

a month now. 

She started knitting / patchwork to take her mind off the cravings, but since these 

have disappeared, she still knits and sometimes attends a local ladies only craft club. 

Furthermore, she has started the ‘why weight’ weight management programme run 

by One You at Fairfield Leisure centre, which includes a combination of nutritional 

education and exercise to help people lose weight. Finally, her GP has now 

decreased her dosage of anti-depressants, but is still waiting for a move in date to 

Greenhithe. 

In addition, she was diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes and wanted help from One You 

nutritionists to navigate a diet from a diabetes specialist dietician.  

 

 

Page 36Agenda Item 8



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 JUNE 2020 

 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - 2020 
 

 
1. Summary 
 

To consider the work carried out by the Policy Overview Committee (POC) 
during the preceding 2019-20 municipal year. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the draft annual 
report on the Committee’s work undertaken in the truncated 2019-20 municipal 
year (attached as Appendix A to this report) be submitted to Cabinet. 

 

 
 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
The Policy Overview Committee’s Protocol (considered separately) states that 
the Committee will receive an annual report on its work. A draft annual report 
on the work undertaken by the Committee during the 2019-20 municipal year is 
attached at Appendix A for Members’ consideration. 
 
Following the onset of the Coronavirus pandemic and in accordance with 
Government guidance regarding safeguarding measures to combat the spread 
of COVID-19, the Committee’s meeting scheduled for 17 March 2020 was 
cancelled with the agreement of the Chairman and the Leader of the Council. 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan (2017-2020) 
 
 Scrutiny by the Committee of the Quarterly Corporate Plan – Key Actions and 

Performance Indicators (PIs) Monitoring reports, contributes towards the 
Council’s Corporate Plan theme of ‘A Council Performing Strongly’ in the 
provision of high quality services that reflect public aspirations, in addition to 
demonstrating an improvement to those services as desired or required. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 
6. Appendices 
 

Page 37 Agenda Item 9



  

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
16 JUNE 2020 

 
 

 

  

Appendix A – draft Policy Overview Committee Annual Report 2019– 2020; 
Appendix B – Committee Terms of Reference (May 2019); 
Appendix C – Committee Protocol (June 2019) 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

POC 
Protocol and 
ToRs, 2018-
19 Annual 
Report, 
Minutes of 
POC 
meetings 
June 2019 - 
January 
2020  

May 
2020 

 D Hook 
01322 343276 

Democratic 
Services/ Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services) 

N/A 

 

Page 38Agenda Item 9



 

 

 

     APPENDIX A 

 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW 

COMMITTEE 

 

 

Draft Annual Report 2019 - 2020 

 

Page 39 Agenda Item 9



 

 2 

1. BACKGROUND and INTRODUCTION 
 
 The Policy Overview Committee (POC) was established at the Annual 
Meeting of the Council on 25 May 2011 to take forward the work previously 
undertaken by the Quality Services Committee and prior to that, by the Best 
Value Review Committee.  
 
The Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) for the new Committee reflected 
the change in emphasis for the work of the POC to focus on policy, rather 
than on the performance of individual services, as undertaken by its 
predecessor bodies. This change in emphasis and focus was designed to 
better ensure that Council services were being delivered effectively; including 
the alignment of Council services with those being delivered by partner 
organisations; and to enable the POC to raise any concerns it might have 
formally with Cabinet for consideration.   
 
The Committee’s ToRs for the 2018–2019 municipal year were confirmed at 
the Annual Meeting of the Council on 9 May 2018 and are summarised in its 
Protocol as follows:  
 

(i) To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with 
the ultimate aim of improving the delivery of services to local 
people; 

(ii) To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the 
community as a whole, and from time to time to examine matters 
which are not the responsibility of the Council e.g. health care 
provision in the Borough; 

(iii) To review the impact of decisions taken and made.  
 

The POC’s Overview Function, approach to Service Delivery, its Overview of 
Health Functions, including its responsibility to respond to any discussion or 
consultation paper relating to any of these, is set out in full in the Committee’s 
ToRs (attached as Appendix B). 
 
The work carried out by the POC complements the work carried out by the 
Scrutiny Committee and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee, as summarised in their respective Protocols. The emphasis of the 
POC’s work ensures that it focuses its attention at a policy level, rather than 
on individual service related indicators. 
 
The POC Protocol [considered elsewhere] requires the Committee to report to 
Cabinet annually on the work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal 
year. This Annual Report provides a summary of the Committee’s work 
undertaken during the 2019-2020 municipal cycle. Comprehensive details of 
that work are contained in the Minutes of the POC meetings held in the period 
under review, as published in full on the Council’s website. 
 
2. POC WORK PLAN REVIEW 2019-20 
  
The Committee’s Work Plan is driven by the Council’s Corporate Plan, but can 
also include the review of other areas identified by Cabinet, and items 

Page 40Agenda Item 9



 

 3 

identified by the Committee on an ad-hoc basis, within the parameters of its 
Protocol and the guidance of Directors.  
 
The Corporate Plan (2017-2020) continued to dictate the work of the 
Committee during the 2019-20 municipal year. In its consideration of areas of 
joint working with partner organisations, the POC looked to ensure that the 
best possible services had been delivered to the Dartford community, 
including the review of any policies associated with the future delivery of those 
services to the Borough and its residents. 
 
Corporate Plan (2017-2020) Performance Indicators (PI) Reports 
 
The Committee continued to consider the Quarterly Corporate Plan Indicator 
of Performance reports in the period under review, independently of Cabinet 
and the CAP committees.  This independent review by the POC enabled the 
Committee to track the progress being made towards meeting the strategic 
aims and objectives for each corporate theme, and to express any concerns 
to Cabinet for consideration and action as appropriate. Independent 
monitoring by the POC also helped the Council to meet the additional general 
Corporate Plan theme of ‘A Council Performing Strongly’, in respect of 
providing high quality services that reflected public aspirations, including 
improvements to those services if required/appropriate.  
 
Regulation 9 Notice 
 
In accordance with its Terms of Reference (ToRs), the Committee considered 
all published Regulation 9 Notices [formerly the Forward Plan] in the period 
under review, up to and including January 2020. The Committee did not 
identify any Cabinet key decisions requiring further review under the draw-
down process. 
 
Action Points Arising Report  
 
Any action points arising from POC meetings are detailed in the Committee’s 
Minutes and presented to Cabinet for consideration and action as appropriate. 
Any action subsequently taken is recorded in an ‘Update’ report and 
presented to Members at the next meeting.  
 
 

Work completed by the POC in the 2018-19 Municipal Year 
 
   

At its initial meeting in the period under review on 18 June 2019, the 
Committee agreed an initial rolling Work Plan to March 2020. The POC held 
two further meetings in the truncated 2019-20 municipal year and updated its 
rolling Work Plan on each occasion as appropriate.  
 
A summary of the topics considered by the Committee in the period under 
review is set out below. Comprehensive details of all POC discussions are 
contained in the meeting minutes, as published in full on the Council’s public 
website. 
 

Page 41 Agenda Item 9



 

 4 

Committee Meeting of 18 June 2019  
 
Item 1: Welfare Reform Update 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Council’s Benefits Manager 
(Sevenoaks Joint Service), on the impact of the roll-out of Universal Credit 
Full Service across the Borough. Principal points highlighted for Members by 
the Benefits Manager in her presentation of the report included:  
 

 Universal Credit (UC) had been introduced in April 2013 as a means-
tested single benefit for people both in and out of work. UC replaced 
the 6 ‘legacy benefits’ of Income Related Employment and Support 
Allowance, Income Based Jobseekers Allowance, Income Support, 
Housing Benefit (HB), Child Tax Credit and Working Tax Credit;  

 UK roll-out of UC Full Service had been completed in December 2018 
and by March 2019 some 1.8 million individuals were in receipt of UC 
of whom just over a third were in work; 

 ‘Natural Migration’ (NM) was the process whereby legacy benefit 
clients were transferred to UC, triggered by either a new claim or a 
change in circumstances to an existing legacy claim. The UC caseload 
was expected to reach 6.7 million by 2022-23 with the vast majority of 
that caseload arising from the ‘Natural Migration’ process; 

 ‘Managed Migration (MM) was the transfer of existing claimants with 
unchanged circumstances to UC. The MM process was due to 
commence nationally in July 2019 following a pilot scheme for 10,000 
claimants in Harrogate, and concluded by March 2023 subject to 
Parliamentary approval. 

 
UC – Local Position 
 

 The Borough was covered by 3 Jobcentres in Dartford, Gravesend and 
Bexleyheath. The Dartford Jobcentre had undertaken a staggered 
transition to UC Full Service, with the majority of customers 
transitioning from legacy benefits on 25 July 2018, and the remainder 
on 24 October 2018; 

 By March 2019 some 2,190 individuals in the Borough were in receipt 
of UC of which just over a third were in work: not a significant 
proportion - but a rising one; 

 All working age customers on low income or out of work had to apply 
for UC via the online application except for those who: had reached 
State Pension age with a partner who had also reached State Pension 
age, or were in receipt of Severe Disability Premium or, who lived in 
supported accommodation, or had been placed in temporary 
accommodation by the Council’s Housing Options Team; 

 All of the above categories had to claim Housing Benefit separately 
from UC which was not back-dated, which made it that new UC 
claimants on low income or out of work got their initial UC claim correct; 

 From April 2019 Citizens Advice in Dartford Jobcentre had been 
delivering ‘Help to Claim’ (previously known as Universal Support) 
advice to UC customers making their initial UC claim on line.  
 

Page 42Agenda Item 9



 

 5 

Impact of UC on Benefits Service Work Load 
 
Transition to UC had entailed a change in work type for the Benefits Service, 
rather than an overall reduction in work load. A reduction in new Housing 
Benefit (HB) claims from working age customers had followed transition to 
UC, but the Service continued to administer the working age Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments, and Pension age 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction cases. 
 
Members participated in a subsequent Q&A session with the Benefits 
Manager during which the following additional points were confirmed: 
 

 The majority of applicants were better-off under UC; 

 Applicants who had yet to migrate from Housing Benefit were a 
potential problem category for the future; 

 Dartford Council’s multi-agency Housing Services Hub assisted 
customers to complete their UC applications in addition to the help 
provided by Dartford Jobcentre, and also provide debt advice, both on-
line and on a walk-in basis; 

  DWP on-line videos were also available via YouTube to assist neuro-
diverse customers who could benefit from visual aids, to help them 
complete their on-line UC applications; 

 The Benefits Service chaired a monthly UC Working Group of service 
providers, and would welcome the participation of Church and charity 
representatives at future meetings; 

 The DWP led on complex UC cases, using their Complex Needs List 
(CNL). Requests for other agencies to access the CNL had been 
refused locally, was being pursued with the DWP nationally;  

 The payment of rental arrears and court fines could not be made from 
the Discretionary Housing Payments budget, which was a small and 
finite fiscal resource; 

 Whilst waiting their first UC payment, customers could apply for an 
interest-free advance repayable over 12 months (previously 6 months). 

 
Members resolved to note the report and requested that an annual UC update 
report from the Benefits Manager be added to the Committee’s Work Plan.  
 
 
Item 2: Committee’s Draft Annual Report for 2018/19 Municipal Year 
 
The Chairman thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for his draft report 
recording the work undertaken by the POC during the 2018-19 municipal year, 
which Members resolved to submit to Cabinet for noting as submitted. 
 
 
Item 3: Committee Protocol 
 
Members resolved to note the contents of an updated Protocol for the 
Committee [dated June 2019], as submitted by the Head of Legal Services. 
 

Page 43 Agenda Item 9



 

 6 

Item 4: Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny in Local and 
Combined Authorities 
 
Members considered a statutory guidance document from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government, and noted that the Committee’s 
Protocol [Item 2 above] conformed to the strictures laid down in the central 
government guidance document.    
 
Item 5: Committee Rolling Work Plan 2019/20 
 
Members considered an initial rolling Work Plan for the Committee’s 
forthcoming programme of work for the period up to March 2020 and 
confirmed the following additions to the initial Plan:  
 

 Flytipping (including Enforcement) – September 2019 

 2019 Annual Status Report on Air Quality – September 2019 

 Presentation on Mental Health (including CAMHS) – September 2020 
 
 
Committee Meeting of 10 September 2019  
 
Item 1: Urgent Care Services in Dartford, Gravesend and Swanley 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Council’s Strategic Director 
(External Services) regarding the public consultation being conducted by the 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS 
CCG) regarding the future provision of urgent care services in the CCG area. 
Appendix A to the report comprised a CCG press release which summarised 
the proposed options, the full consultation document and questionnaire 
attached was attached as Appendix B. Members were invited to agree a 
formal Council response to the CCG consultation for approval by Cabinet.  
 
Debate was opened by the Chairman who declared his support for Darent 
Valley Hospital (DVH) as the location for the new Urgent Treatment Centre 
(UTC). He advised Members that his decision had been based on DVH’s 
geographical location in the centre of the DGS CCG area, and close proximity 
to both the A2 and M25 major road links. Location of Centre at DVH would 
also help relieve existing pressures on the hospital’s adjacent A&E 
Department.  
 
Members supported the Chairman in his choice of Darent Valley Hospital as 
the preferred site of a new Urgent Treatment Centre for the CCG, with the 
following additional points:  
 

 UTCs benefitted from co-location with existing A&E facilities (which 
DVH already had), making a better combined package of care facilities 
for all DGS CCG residents; 

 DVH benefitted from a direct Fastrack service in terms of public 
transport; 

Page 44Agenda Item 9



 

 7 

 Dartford’s increasing population and house building operations added 
weight to the case for DVH to be the preferred option for a new UTC 
rather than GCH. 

 
Members resolved to note the report and appendices and support the 
proposal that the new Urgent Treatment Centre for the Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group be situated at Darent Valley 
Hospital, and that with Cabinet approval, he write to the CCG to this effect. 
 
Postscript: the overwhelming outcome (80%) of the public consultation was 
to locate the UTC at Gravesham Community Hospital. However, following 
further internal discussion within the DGS CCG, it was announced in January 
2020 that UTCs would be established at both Darent Valley and Gravesham 
Community hospitals. 
 
Item 2: Mental Health 
 
The Chairman welcomed Sue Braysher, Director Dartford, Gravesham & 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) and Adam Wickings, 
Deputy Managing Director, West Kent CCG and Senior Responsible Officer 
for Mental Health for Medway, North and West Kent CCGs to the meeting and 
thanked them for agreeing to attend and respond to Members questions and 
concerns. 
 
Members were advised by Sue Brasher that DGS CCG had been increasingly 
focussed on the move towards the proposed creation of a single Kent and 
Medway CCG by April 2020, following an application to the NHSE. A new 
single CCG would be responsible for strategic commissioning across Kent & 
Medway, including specialist Mental Health services. From April 2021 it was 
proposed that the DGS’s Integrated Care Partnership would be responsible 
for ensuring that Mental and Physical Health and Wellbeing services met the 
requirements of residents of the three boroughs. 
 
Adam Wickings advised Members that in his role as Deputy Managing 
Director, West Kent CCG and Senior Responsible Officer for Mental Health for 
Medway, North and West Kent CCGs, his responsibilities were focussed on 
ensuring that more CCG funding was spent on Mental Health care, and within 
that category, that a larger proportion of resources were devoted to Children’s 
Mental Health care. 
 
Members received a PowerPoint presentation from the Deputy MD entitled 
‘Children, Young People and Adult Mental Health strategic aims, key 
programmes of work and priority areas’, which covered the following four key 
areas: 
 

(i) Kent Mental Health Needs Assessment 2019 
 
Mental Health was defined by the World Health Organisation as ‘ A state of 
well-being in which every individual realises his/her own potential, can cope 
with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and was 
able to contribute to his/her community’. Mental illnesses were as varied as 
physical illnesses, with a variety of causes and treatments, and fell into two 

Page 45 Agenda Item 9



 

 8 

main types; Common Mental Illnesses (suffered by 1 in 4 of the population) 
and Severe Mental Illness such as Psychosis (suffered by only 0.5-1 in 100 of 
the population). Approximately 50% of lifetime mental illness began before the 
age of 14 with 75% of lifetime conditions beginning before the age of 24. Both 
poverty and exposure to ‘adverse childhood experiences’ (ACE) contributed to 
and exacerbated a person’s mental health (state of mind) and could lead to 
mental illness (a clinically diagnosed condition requiring treatment). Exposure 
to four or more ACE’s gave a person a 60% chance of having a mental illness 
that required specialist treatment. Social Isolation and loneliness were factors 
which increased the likelihood of depression, multi-morbidity and use of adult 
acute mental health services. Protective factors that kept people well and 
improved their resilience (to mental illness) included employment, education 
and social connectedness.  
 
 

(ii)  Five Year Forward View and Long Term Plan for Mental Health 
 
Children and Young People (CYP) – 35% of CYP with a diagnosable mental 
health condition to access treatment each year by 2020/21; CYP Eating 
Disorders – Community Eating Disorder teams for CYP to meet access and 
waiting time standards; Early Intervention in Psychosis – Expand capacity 
so that 50% (moving to 60%) of people experiencing a first episode of 
psychosis start treatment within two weeks of referral with a NICE 
recommended package of care; Crisis and Acute Care – 24/7 CRHTT’s 
(Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams) as an alternative to acute 
inpatient admission, reduce the number of Out of Area Placements, use of All 
Age Liaison services; Community Care – Increase access to Individual 
Placement Support, deliver integrated physical and mental health provision for 
people with SMI (Serious Mental Illness) in line with national ambition; APT 
(Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) – Meet the IAPT access, 
recovery and waiting time standards, commission additional psychological 
therapies with the majority of the increase integrated with physical health; 
Perinatal – Increase access to evidence-based specialist perinatal mental 
health care, commission additional or expanded specialist perinatal mental 
health community services; Suicide Prevention – Develop plan to reduce 
suicides (against 2016/17 levels) in line with national ambition to reduce 
suicides by 10% by 2020/21. 
 
 

(iii) CYP Progress to date in Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley (DG&S) 
 
The CYP Local Transformation Plan funded services in DGS for young people 
to explore and better manage thoughts/actions associated with self-harm, 
connected young LGBT+ people, and provided safe spaces and educational 
resources in schools to aid the provision of good mental health. Primary Care 
Mental Health and Wellbeing service in DG&S supported young people from 
age 16 to improve their mental and physical health and wellbeing through 
support, information and skills to build a healthy, independent life, with all 
emergency and urgent referrals seen within the referral to treatment (RTT) 
standard target of 18 weeks. North Kent (DGS and Swale) were due to 
develop a Mental Health Schools Teams (MHSTs) in 32 schools from January 
2020.  

Page 46Agenda Item 9



 

 9 

(iv) Adult Progress to Date 
 
The CCGs and KMPT (Kent & Medway Partnership Trust), worked collectively 
to deliver an enhanced perinatal mental health service to ensure increased 
numbers of women accessed evidence based treatment, including meeting 
the 50% access standard for Early Intervention in Psychosis for service users 
with suspected first episode psychosis. NHS England funded a Mother and 
Baby Unit in Dartford, and Kent and Medway had applied for funding for 
additional workforce training for Crisis Resolution Home Treatment teams, 
plus four Safe Havens as an alternative to attending Darent Valley Hospital. 
The all age Eating Disorder service was meeting the 95% standard for initial 
specialist assessment for urgent referrals, with appropriate treatment 
commenced within 7 days for both CYPs and adults. North Kent Mind 
delivered nature-based interventions for people with mental health conditions, 
including through the North West Kent Countryside Partnership’s Ecology 
Island facility in Dartford. Nine suicide and self-harm awareness courses had 
been held across DGS to date with over 100 participants. 
 
Key Developments 2019 to 2021 
 
Medway, North and West Kent and Kent and Medway Partnership Trust 
(KMPT), had agreed an Aligned Incentive Contract (AIC), an alternate 
contracting and payment mechanism that provided an opportunity for partners 
to agree a shared agenda to make progress in key areas. This promoted 
collaboration and transparent working to develop an Integrated Care System 
which reduced costs and focussed on primary and community based 
provision.  
 
To enable CCGs to develop key priorities over the next 1-2 year period, four 
programmes of work had been identified to drive forward change across West 
and North Kent:  
 
(1) Children and Young People – continued increase in perinatal provision 
locally, with consistent access to services across Medway, North and West 
Kent, and continued collaborative work with key health, social care and 
voluntary sector partners, to implement the CYP Local Transformation Plan;  
(2) Local Care – improve mental health care integration with local care 
initiatives across Medway, North and West Kent, to meet national standards 
and improve the pathway between primary and secondary health services, to 
enable mental health to be at the forefront of local integrated health and social 
care multi-disciplinary teams;  
(3) Crisis Care – to develop a consistent approach to a crisis care pathway 
across Medway, North and West Kent, to include the role of Liaison 
Psychiatry in both acute and community settings, 24/7 CRHTTs and the 
development of Safe Havens; 
(4) Dementia and Older Adults – revision of existing primary and secondary 
care to develop a pathway to meet the 67% national standard for the 
diagnosis of dementia across Medway, North and West Kent. 
In a subsequent Q&A session with Members the Deputy MD confirmed the 
following additional points for Members: 
 

 There was no evidence connecting air pollution to mental illness; 

Page 47 Agenda Item 9



 

 10 

 CAMHS and NELFT providers were undertaking work to develop a 
better co-ordinated pathway of services for mental health patients, from 
childhood to adulthood; 

 The development of Safe Havens across Kent and Medway, for 
patients in need of crisis care, would relieve the existing burden on 
hospital A&E services and police resources dealing with such patients 
in the community; 

 The new ‘Canada’ model 111 telephone service was staffed by expert 
clinicians 24/7, connected all PCNs (Primary Care Networks) across 
Kent and Medway, and dealt with mental health issues; 

 IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) service in Kent 
and Medway formed part of the drive to maximise spend on mental 
health treatment across the county. In particular by CAMHS and 
NEFLT providers in the primary care environment, to increase the 
likelihood of full patient recovery. Increased interface with schools, 
aimed at early diagnosis, was a key element of IAPT services for 
children and young adults. 
  

The Chairman thanked his NHS guests for their comprehensive presentations 
and responses to Members questions and concerns regarding mental health 
issues, and noted in particular the themes being developed by CCGs and 
Trusts across Kent to improve and increase service provision for patients 
suffering with mental health issues. 
 
Item 3: Illegal Dumping, Enforcement and Household Waste Recycling 
Centres (HWRCs) 
 
The Committee considered a joint update report from the Waste & Parks and 
Enforcement & Regulatory Services Managers regarding the level of illegal 
dumping and fly tipping in Dartford, the enforcement measures being taken 
against offenders, and the policy changes at Kent County Council’s 
Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs). Appendix A to the report 
comprised a table setting out reported incidences of illegal dumping/fly tipping 
on a monthly basis for the years 2015 to August 2019. 
 
The Chairman had requested the report to enable the Committee to focus on 
how the Council was meeting these continuing challenges common to all local 
authorities in Kent and nationally. His aim was for Dartford Council to be 
known as the best local authority in Kent for the successful removal of fly 
tipping and illegally dumped waste, and the successful fining and prosecution 
of offenders, and wished to identify further positive measures which the 
Council could adopt to achieve that stated goal. He provided Members with 
pictures of waste recently dumped on principal arterial routes in Dartford, and 
proposed that the successful removal of such waste be publicised on the 
Council’s website and via specific press releases, to raise the Council’s profile 
with the public in successfully tackling the issue. 
Members were advised by the Waste & Parks Manager that the Council 
website provided statistics on illegal dumping in the Borough together with 
details of fines (FPNs) issued as a deterrent, and asked the public to report 
any incidents of illegal dumping. The Council also took every opportunity to 
publicise the details of successful prosecutions, including ‘naming and 
shaming’ offenders when convicted by the Courts. 

Page 48Agenda Item 9



 

 11 

  
In response to subsequent specific questions from Members, the Strategic 
Director (External Services) and the Waste & Parks Manager confirmed the 
following further principal points:  
 

 FPNs remained the most frequently used and effective Council 
deterrent to combat illegal dumping and fly tipping; 

 The Council used covert CCTV cameras at known fly-tipping hotspots 
and some re-cycling centres and proposed to extend coverage as 
required; 

 Improved signage at HWRCs (including at re-cycling banks), was being 
considered to combat impromptu fly tipping by 
disappointed/disaffected customers; 

 The Council had undertaken boundary fencing of open land it owned 
adjacent to arterial routes to prevent fly tipping, but the supervision of 
slip roads, hard shoulder and grass verge access was the 
responsibility of KCC and Highways England; 

 The Council and KCC were considering proposals to license DBC Park 
Rangers as Waste Carriers to remove smaller items illegally dumped 
in Dartford’s parks and open spaces; 

 The location of Council CCTV cameras at fly tipping hotspots and 
HWRCs were not divulged, but the public were made aware of their 
existence in general terms, via warning signage. 

 
The Chairman expressed his thanks to officers for their report and responses 
to Members questions and concerns, and congratulated the Council’s Waste 
& Parks and Enforcement and Regulatory Services teams on their 
achievements to date in combating fly tipping, illegal dumping of waste and 
the prosecution of offenders. In addition, he asked that the following requests 
be included in the Minutes for Cabinet consideration: 
 

 Increased use of press releases and twitter feed by the Council to 
heighten public awareness of ‘success stories’ in combatting fly 
tipping, illegal dumping and the prosecution of offenders; 

 To secure Waste Carrier Licences for DBC Park Rangers from KCC; 

 Consider of what further measures the Council could take to combat fly 
tipping and illegal dumping in the Borough. 

 
Members resolved to note the contents of the report and ask that Cabinet note 
the ongoing concerns of the Committee, as summarised by the Chairman and 
recorded in the Minutes. 
 
 
 
 
Item 4: Air Quality Annual Status Report 2019 
 
Members were asked to consider a joint report from the Council’s Assistant 
Environmental Health Manager and Scientific Offer which enclosed at 
Appendix A, the Council’s Air Quality Annual Status Report for 2019, prior to 

Page 49 Agenda Item 9



 

 12 

submission of the 2019 Status report to the Department for the Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). 
 
In response to subsequent questions from Members, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) and the report co-authors confirmed the following principal 
points: for the Committee: 
 

  Air pollution in Dartford had increased in 2018 over 2017 levels, due 
primarily to increased easterly wind strengths on the western side of 
the A242 in contrast to the westerly prevailing winds of previous years; 
 

 The 2018 increase in air pollution levels in Dartford had not been 
replicated Kent-wide, however, 2018 increase viewed in the context of 
previous years, did not mean that air pollution in Dartford was on an 
upward trend; 

 

 The Council had registered strong objections to the HMRC and DoT 
over their proposed scheme to utilise existing ‘hard standing’ at 
Ebbsfleet station to park HGV’s (post Brexit), including overnight 
movement and the idling of engines by HGV operatives during any 
stays or inspection processes; 

 

 The Council also acknowledged the detrimental effects that M25, A2 
and Bluewater traffic had on Dartford, in terms of air pollution levels, 
but control of traffic flows fell to Highways England to administer; 

 

  The current Air Quality Action Plans (AQAPs) for Dartford had been 
produced in 2001 and 2009 and were no longer considered ‘fit for 
purpose’. Defra recommended an evidenced based approach for 
AQAPs based on identification of pollutants and action to combat 
them. In the absence of ‘in-house’, the Council had commissioned a 
consultant to write a new AQAP for Dartford based on AQA 
assessments for future presentation to Cabinet; 

 

 A new Air Quality Action Plan would give the Council ammunition to go 
back to central government and other stakeholders to institute 
evidence-based measures to combat air pollution in the Borough. 
Funding for the new Action Plan was ring-fenced in 2020 with a new 
Plan expected to take 12-18 months to complete. 

 
Members resolved to note the contents of the covering report and the 2019 Air 
Quality Annual Status Report, and welcomed the Council’s proposals to 
commission a new Air Quality Action Plan for Dartford.    
 
Committee Meeting of 28 January 2020 
 
Item 1: Council Litter Service 
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn down the inter-related 
topics of the Council’s Litter and Recycling services for consideration by the 

Page 50Agenda Item 9



 

 13 

Committee, given their importance to the Borough and its residents, but 
proposed to deal with them separately.  
 
Consideration of the Litter Service commenced with a Q&A session in which 
the Waste and Parks Manager (WPM) confirmed the following principal points 
for the Committee in response to specific questions: 
 

 Residents could access the ‘litter portal’ on the Council’s public website 
to obtain details of when their street had last been swept and would be 
swept next. The portal also provided a contact point for residents who 
had questions or were unsure whether a particular site was a Council 
responsibility or not (e.g. private land); 

 As a Principal Litter Authority (PLA) under s89 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990; the Council had a duty to keep adopted public 
highway and owned land under their control clean. This entailed the 
cleaning of some 1,000+ roads on a staggered basis; residential roads 
4 weekly, main roads fortnightly, town centres (Dartford, Longfield and 
Swanscombe) daily. Roads on new estates were added to the 
Council’s street cleaning list following adoption by Kent County Council; 

 Urbaser Ltd (new Council contractor) undertook street cleaning in 
accordance with its Waste Collection and Street Cleaning (2019-2024) 
contract with the Council using the following equipment: 3 mechanical 
street cleaners (with brushes), 5 caged transit vans (with 2 operatives), 
3 one man barrows in the town centres, plus 2 litter pickers on a roving 
basis through-out the borough; 

 Street Cleaning’ was defined as: the removal of litter and detritus 
(gravel, silt, leaves, etc.) as required. The Council did not clean ‘clean’ 
streets’ only as required according to a published schedule. If a street 
was ‘clean’ the contractor moved onto the next scheduled street. Hand 
picking of litter remained the most effective solution, plus the 3 barrows 
which patrolled the town centres. Urbaser had litter pickers on daily 
standby in Hi-Viz jackets to respond to incidents of excessive littering 
on a needs basis, using litter sticks and green sacks; 

 The effectiveness of signage to encourage the public not to litter was 
difficult to gauge, but the WPM undertook to consider the proposal. 

 
Several Members expressed concern over; the number/location of litter and 
dog bins, regularity of emptying bins, need for litter bins at bus stops, need to  
encourage businesses to prevent their customers discarding packaging in the 
street environment, littering in alleyways. 
 
In response the WPM advised that 50 new (dual use) litter/dog bins had been 
installed in the previous 12 months. There was now 750 bins across the 
Borough of which 100 were new, for Dartford’s 109,000 residents. There was 
no recognised ratio of bins per population, but requests for further bins would 
be considered. He warned however, that requests for new litter/dog bins were 
invariably opposed by some residents, who did not want litter/dog bins located 
adjacent to their properties. He confirmed that litter/dog bins were cleared at 
least once per week, but requests for a twice-weekly service would also be 
considered. Regarding alleyways, most were privately owned and not the 
Council’s responsibility to clear/clean. However, the Council would provide 

Page 51 Agenda Item 9



 

 14 

residents with sticks, litter sacks and Hi-Viz jackets on request. Removal of 
fly-tipped sofas and white goods were the responsibility of Urbaser Ltd under 
their contract with the Council. Residents could request removal by Urbaser 
via the ‘litter portal’ on the Council website. The Council also working closely 
with KCC regarding the removal of fly-tipped sofas and white goods on the 
M25 and A2 roads, areas outside the Council’s area of direct responsibility.  
 
Members then posed a number of further supplementary questions to which 
the WPM gave the following responses: Urbaser cleared all recycling sites 
(including Temple Hill) three times per week in accordance with a published 
schedule; increased signage advising the location of recycling sites was being 
progressed; vendors operating from private land/property could not be fined 
for littering by their customers in the street environment, but such vendors 
could be fined by the Council’s Enforcement Manager or prosecuted in court if 
they had no commercial (trade) waste collection agreement in place; 
Members and residents should report overflowing litter bins via the ‘street 
history’ tab in the ‘litter portal’ or directly to the WPM by email, and appropriate 
action would be taken, including adjustment to the existing emptying 
schedule, which was independently monitored by the Council. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Waste and Parks Manager for his report and for 
responding to Members’ concerns that evening and on several occasions in 
the preceding months. He proposed that the Committee receive an annual 
update report commencing January 2021, to meet Members concerns going 
forward, and asked that the Committee’s Work Plan be updated to this effect. 
 
Members resolved to note the contents of the report and commended the 
Council’s specific proactive measures to tackle litter in the Borough to date, 
and requested that the Minutes of the meeting be referred to Cabinet, for 
consideration of a further increase in litter/dog bins, employment of 2 further 
litter pickers by Urbaser, the itemisation of litter fines by Ward to help identify 
‘litter hotspots’, and increased signage regarding the provision and location of 
litter/dog bins. 
 
Item 2: Council Recycling Service 
 
The Chairman opened discussion of his second draw-down item by referring 
Members to para 3.1 of the report from the Waste & Parks Manager (WPM), 
which advised the Committee that the Council was a Waste Collection 
Authority (WCA) under s30 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, and that 
under the subsequent Household Waste Recycling Act 2003, the Council (as 
a WCA) had to recycle a proportion of the waste it collected: recycling was not 
therefore a new topic, but an obligation that the Council had held for a 
considerable time.  
 
He then referred Members to para 3.8 of the report and asked the WPM what 
assurance the Council had, that the material it sent for recycling at the Viridor 
Materials Recycling Facility at Crayford, was in fact recycled. 
 
Members were advised that it was difficult to gauge with any degree of 
certainty how much of the Council’s waste was in fact recycled. The Council’s 
involvement in the process and responsibility for the waste ceased once the 

Page 52Agenda Item 9



 

 15 

waste was delivered to Viridor, as directed by KCC. The Council had collected 
some 9,000 tonnes of recyclable waste from the kerbside in 2018/19, as part 
of an overall total of 150,000 tonnes of waste sent to Viridor, with overall 
tonnage and percentage splits expected to be similar for 2019/20. 
 
The WPM recorded the amount of waste sent to Viridor for recycling on a daily 
basis, and to Government quarterly as required by legislation for WCA’s. 
However, the Council played no part in the actual recycling process 
undertaken by Viridor using the ‘spot market’: a complicated process which 
involved several factors, which made it difficult to confirm how much of the 
Council’s waste was ultimately recycled and by whom. Some 75% of 
recyclable waste was now sold in the U.K. with Spain the major European 
buyer, but it was not possible for the Council to verify what was sold and to 
whom. To help reduce the Council’s carbon footprint, waste from the east side 
of the borough was sent to Pepperhill for reprocessing, and waste from the 
west side of Dartford went to Viridor at Crayford. 
 
The Chairman thanked the WPM for his report and explanation of the process 
undertaken by Viridor to dispose of the Council’s recyclable waste. He had 
noted that the Corporate Plan – Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Reports made no reference to a PI for recycling rates, and asked if 
one could be added and whether the Council had targets for recycling.  
 
In response to the Chairman and a variety of other concerns from Member the 
WPM advised that 25% of the Borough’s waste was sent for recycling, of 
which 10% was non-recyclable due to contaminants. The Government’s 
national target for recycling was 50% by 2020, but failure to meet it was not 
subject to penalty. The majority public response to the Council’s last (3rd) ‘Big 
Bin Vote’ was that residents were satisfied with the existing service and did 
not want a food waste service. There was no food waste provision in the 
current contract with Urbaser, but 99% of all food waste from the borough was 
incinerated to generate electricity at the ‘Energy for Waste’ plant at Allington in 
Maidstone, with less than 1% of overall waste collected by the Council going 
to landfill. The Council provided a Garden Waste collection for composting 
(including grass cuttings, leaves, twigs, fallen fruit, and vegetable peelings). 
Urbaser ran a mixed fleet of vehicles to suit all locations and road sizes, 
vehicles were tracked and videoed to ensure that all kerbside waste collected 
was kept in split compartments and not cross-contaminated. Regarding an 
‘audit trail’ for recyclable waste, the Council delivered its waste to Viridor so 
had no control over the final destination of the waste, but the spreadsheet 
records submitted to Government showed that the majority remained in the 
U.K. and the balance went to Spain. 

 
Members were reminded by the Strategic Director (External Services), that 
the Council was a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) and as such, was not 
responsible for the disposal of the household waste it collected: the 
responsible Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for Dartford was Kent County 
Council, who accrued all revenue from disposal processes as the responsible 
WDA. With regard to a food waste collection service, the topic had last been 
considered by Cabinet in March 2018 [Min. No 115 refers] and the decision 
taken not to provide a separate food waste service for a further 5 year period. 
 

Page 53 Agenda Item 9



 

 16 

The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director for her comments and the WPM 
for the further detail he had provided in response to Members’ questions, 
regarding the Council’s current recycling performance and the topic of a 
separate food collection service. 
  
Members resolved to note the contents of the report and to refer the Minutes 
of the meeting to Cabinet for consideration of the following specific points: 
ensure that material sent for recycling was processed ecologically, the 
addition of a performance indicator (PI) for litter in the Council’s Quarterly 
Performance Indicator reports, the Council’s ‘litter portal’ to include specific 
details on what items could be recycled, consideration of further measures to 
meet the Government’s 50% national recycling target for 2020 for Waste 
Collection Authorities (WCAs).  
 
Committee Meeting of 17 March 2020  
 
Following the onset of the Coronavirus pandemic and in accordance with 
Government guidance concerning measures to combat COVID-19 including 
the need to maintain social distancing and other protective measures, the 
above meeting was cancelled with the agreement of the Chairman and the 
Leader of the Council. 
 
David Hook 
Democratic Services  
May 2020 

Page 54Agenda Item 9



APPENDIX B 
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L 

ANNUAL MEETING  
22 May 2019 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference] 
 
Chairman:  Councillor M J Davis 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor M I Peters 
Membership:  Councillors S H Brown, J Burrell, S P Butterfill, L A 

Canham, R M Currans, L H K Edie, B Garden, K J Grehan, R 
A S Jones,    T A Maddison, D T Nicklen, T Oliver, J A Ozog, 
A Sandhu MBE, and Mrs R F Storey. 

 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference] 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 

1. The Overview Function 
 
(1) Without prejudice to the role and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards etc, to 

review general policies of the Council and to recommend accordingly to the Cabinet on 
future policy options. 

 
(2) To seek views from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of the 

effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions. 
 
(3) To hold policy reviews and make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in 

accordance with the Committee’s Protocol. 
 
(4) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to assist the Cabinet and/or the GAC in the 

development of future policies and strategies. 
 
(5) Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input from 

Councillors (including Cabinet members), Officers, Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum, 
other interested stakeholders and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of 
constituents’ views. 

 
(6) To gather information and make recommendations in accordance with the Committee’s 

Protocol to the Cabinet and/or the GAC before policy is implemented as part of the 
framework for accountable, transparent decision-making. 

 

Page 55 Agenda Item 9



(7) To carry out reviews of non-Council matters and as part of the community planning 
process, consult with partner organisations where appropriate and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet in relation to matters which are not the direct 
responsibility of the GAC, but which nevertheless affect the economic, environmental and 
social well-being of the Borough. 

 
(8) To consider and investigate broad policy issues and make reports and recommendations 

to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol.  
 
(9) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to provide advice to the Cabinet and/or the 

GAC on major issues before final decisions are made. 
 

(10) To receive the views and recommendations of area/joint committees or forums as part of 
any review which impacts on the Borough. 

 
(11) To be consulted/receive referrals by the GAC and/or the Cabinet about issues falling within 

the remit of the Committee, example Cabinet requesting an enquiry into a particular issue. 
 
(12) To approve an annual overview work programme in accordance with Standing Order 58(8) 

including the programme of any subcommittee appointed by the Committee to ensure that 
there is efficient use of the Committee’s (sub-committee’s) time and that potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised. 

 
(13) To review the Cabinet’s forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, forthcoming 

Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to review. 
 
(14)  To carry out reviews of how certain decisions have affected a particular community or area 

by taking advice from area committees or forums and other community groups and 
representatives. 

 
2. Service Delivery 
 

To consider new approaches to service delivery and recommend to the Cabinet 
demanding performance targets for services, so as to deliver continuous improvements 
which reflect both national and local considerations including; 

 
(a) Challenging why and how a service is being provided; 

 
(b) Securing comparison with the performance of others across a range of relevant 

indicators, taking into account the views of both service users and potential suppliers; 
 

(c) Consulting local taxpayers, service users, partners and the wider business community 
in the setting up of new performance targets; 

 
(d) Considering fair competition as a means of securing efficient and effective services 

 
(e) To make recommendation(s) to the Cabinet on suitable performance 

information/indicators. 
 
3. Overview of Health Functions 

 
To review any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health service 
in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

 

Page 56Agenda Item 9



4. Discussion/Consultation Papers 
 

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated with 
the functions of the Committee in accordance with the consultation procedure. 

Page 57 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO1 

 
 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the overview role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 
 

  
Terms of Reference To assist the Cabinet with policy review and development with the ultimate 

aim of improving the delivery of services to local people. 
 

 To work with partner organisations for the benefit of the community as a 
whole and from time to time to examine matters which are not the 
responsibility of the Council e.g. health care provision in the Borough. 
 

 To review the impact of decisions and policy. 
 

  

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 
 Council (the GAC); 

 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time. 

 
  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act unlawfully. 
 

  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 

 Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of the Strategic 
and Policy Framework; 

  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

 
  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 

within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

 
  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 

name; 

Page 59 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO2 

 
  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 

unnecessarily repetitive review activities. 
 

  
Membership Committee membership may include no more than one Cabinet member. 

 
  

The Overview Process  

The review of any matter: 

(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  Council services to the local community; 

(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to reasonably 
 influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community; 

(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services, 

but excluding crime and disorder related matters. 
  
1.What may be 
reviewed 

 

1.1 Council policy development and budgetary framework [on the request of the 
GAC or Cabinet]; 

1.2 local improvement targets (other than crime and disorder);  
 

1.3 decisions/actions of key local public service providers; 
 

1.4 performance of the Council  in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of public 
bodies/organisations  including local health services, subject to the Council 
being in a position to reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of the 
local community; 
 

  
 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of reviewing decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the review of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 
 

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 
 

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council; 

 
 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
 through the Chairman of the Committee. one item only for any other 
Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’. 

 
 

 

Page 60Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO3 

  
A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 

down for review purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items 
may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a review of 
decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement targets, health 
service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the Committee is 
restricted to the review of five items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participants to appear before the Committee will be 

notified to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wishes to review an item for the purposes of examining 

the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post implementation, 
drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future date.  

 
 NB: The focus of the review in such circumstances will be concerned with 

the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any background 
document before the Committee. 

 
A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 

the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up. 

 
A.6 
 

 

 

 

 

A.7 
 

Although the Policy Overview Committee and Scrutiny Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Policy Overview 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs.  
 
 
The Managing Director, in consultation with the Strategic Director (External 
Services), will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw down, with 
reasons recorded in writing.  In the absence of either the Managing Director 
or Strategic Director (External Services), the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) will be consulted by the other. 
 

  

Page 61 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO4 

  
B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written notice 
to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 

information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 

to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will as appropriate, 

notify the Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  
Where the request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the 
Managing Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the 
day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised or redacted, unless the identification of an 
individual is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to 
properly exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 2018.   

 
B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 

proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach of 
confidence actionable by any person. 
 

Page 62Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO5 

B.7 
 

 

 

 

B.8 
 

 

 

 
 
B.9 
 

 

 

 

Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972, as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 
 
The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 
To facilitate the overview process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended)) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).   
 

 

  

C. Health Service 
Review 
 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local Healthwatch 
contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 
C.1 The Committee may review any matter relating to the planning, provision and 

operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 
 

C.2 When reviewing the planning, provision and operation of the health service, 
the Committee must: 
 

 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013) and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, relevant 
information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 

 
 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 

must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer informed 
of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 

 

C.3 

 

 

The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

Page 63 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO6 

 

C.4 

 

 

 

 

C.5 

 

 

C.6 

 

 

 

C.7 

 

 

 

C.8 

 

 

 

 

C.9 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 

review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee. 
 

 

 
Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol, 
the Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of a 
Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer questions 
(reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 
 
The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 
include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 
 
Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the request 
(reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to the 
health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
 
In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section C.5 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

Page 64Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO7 

  
  
  
  
D. Participants  
 
D.1 

 
The nature of the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic under 
review will generally determine who participates in the proceedings of the 
Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the review: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend Committee 
meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer questions 
((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

 Health Service review 
 
A representative or employee of the Responsible Person may be required to 
attend Committee meetings to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions in accordance with section C.4 of this Protocol. 
 
 

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors to 
assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 
 

 

 

 

D.5A 

 

Councillors who are not members of the Committee  
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee. 
 
 
Lead Members 
 
Subject to sections D.7(a) and S.6 of this Protocol, Lead Members may be 
requested (but cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on their respective portfolios.  
 

Page 65 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO8 

D.6 

 

The review of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of a 
participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 
Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly. 
 

 

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within the 
discretion of the Managing Director. 

 
 

 (b) Subject to para.(a) of this section D.7 and section S.6 of this Protocol, 
any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee and with the 
consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer questions or 
give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant portfolio. 

 
(c) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers to 

above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure that 
junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
(d) The Chairman or Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman (or nominee in 

the Shadow Chairman’s absence) (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a named 
Cabinet member/Lead Member(s) and Council Officer(s), and 
representative of a Responsible Person, or relevant body as participants 
in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written notice to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the Committee 
meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
(e)  Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 

 investigation will not be called as participants. 
 
(f) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the Compliance 

Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(g) and (h) below.  
Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their particular 
issues. 

 
(g) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 

Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that the 
question may be answered in private session. 

 
(h) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would be 

entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions. 

 
(i) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 

their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence. 

 

Page 66Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO9 

(j) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
  
 (k) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 

 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 
 

 (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 

 
 (l) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 

 
  advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 

 
  decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc. 
 

 NB: As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for Officers 
to be politically neutral. 

 
  

E. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A of this Protocol, any 
Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 21A(1) 
Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the Committee’s 
functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving written notice 
to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before a 
Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays 
and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  

Page 67 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO10 

F. The duty to have  
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

F.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee may 
recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made it.  

 

F.2 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

F.3 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond to 
its Overview Report and/or recommendations in accordance with section C.5 
of this Protocol. 
 

  

G. Regulatory bodies 
 

 

G.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 
development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

G.2 The Committee will not review individual decisions made by the Committees, 
Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s regulatory functions 
(the Regulatory Bodies).  Review of decisions of Regulatory Bodies is clearly 
not an alternative to normal appeals procedures.  However, the Committee 
may make reports and/or recommendations to the GAC relating to the 
discharge of any Regulatory Body’s functions. 
 

G.3 Review of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted to 
one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.  
 

  

Page 68Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO11 

H. Work programme 
 

H.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are not 
members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

H.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

H.3 
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

H.4 
The Committee will respond as soon as its work programme permits to 
requests from the GAC and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of 
Council activity.  Such requests/referrals may include a policy review study 
before the Cabinet formulates its policies for submission to the GAC for 
approval.  Reviews on the grounds of priority or emergency (example an 
announcement during the course of the municipal year or government policy 
or other initiative requiring early attention) may also be the subject of a 
referral from the GAC and/or the Cabinet. 
 

H.5 
In referring items for consideration by the Committee, the GAC and/or the 
Cabinet will identify the philosophy/reasoning behind the referral and will 
endeavour to provide the Committee with all relevant information on the 
subject matter under review. 
 

J. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

J.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups. Independent 
experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights.  These persons 
will be regarded as invitees only and will not count for the purposes of 
establishing a quorum. 
 

J.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Responsible Person. 

 
J.3  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply with 

the principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

J.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

J.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

Page 69 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO12 

J.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 

 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 

 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 

 vires and propriety of expenditure; 

 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 
and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 

 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

   

K. Overview reports  
and/or 
recommendations 

 

K.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the local Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

K.2 The Overview Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the review exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 
K.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Overview Report. 
 

K.4 The Overview Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

K.5 Where the Committee requests a response, the ‘relevant body’ is under an 
obligation to consider the Overview Report and/or recommendations and 
respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) 
of the date of the Overview Report, in accordance with F. of this Protocol. 
 

K.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of a ‘relevant body’, attend its 
meeting and present the Overview Report and answer questions. 
 

K.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and provided 
they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

 

Page 70Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO13 

  

K.8 If at all possible, Overview Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ within 
a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the Overview 
Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's 
Overview Report/recommendations will be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda. 
 

K.9 Only one Overview Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

K.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

K.11 Overview Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 
 

K.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

L. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

M. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

M.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet, Officers and local 
health service bodies i.e. NHS Foundation trust etc.; 

 
  local health service related issues; 

 
  

Page 71 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO14 

  
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Policy Overview Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 
M.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 

the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

M.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 (Delegation 
of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of Delegations to 
Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

M.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

M.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If an overview/review investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director. 
 

M.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any overview/review investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary 
to defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

M.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

N. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

N.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

N.2 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15. 
 

  

Page 72Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO15 

P. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working groups 
 

 

P.1. Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally 
 

P.2 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated with overview (which is the preserve of the 
Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may contribute to or 
inform the review process. 
 

P.3 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

P.4 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary. 
 

P.5 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; and 
written submissions from participants.  

 
P.6 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

P.7 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group Chairman 
before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Managing Director for 
comment. 
 

P.8 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director. 
 

  
P.9 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 

the relevant body i.e. local health service, GAC and/or Cabinet, etc. with a 
note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate. 
 

P.10 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

  
Q. Sub-committees  
Q.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees. 
 

Q.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated with the 
overview function. 
 

Page 73 Agenda Item 9



 

June 2019 
Overview and Scrutiny/Policy Overview Committee Protocol  PO16 

  
R. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

R.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the Council, 
Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will be 
monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

R.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

S. Declarations of  
interest 

 

S.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

S.2 Representatives from local health service body, other partners and 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct.  
 

S.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

S.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the interests 
at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become apparent 
to them.  
 

S.5 The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of the Scrutiny Committee (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions 
and/or proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy 
themes and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications 
for the policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules 
detailed in section S.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead 
Members who have been directly involved in policy development, may 
participate in the Committee’s policy development and/or review work.   

 
  

S.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol any 
Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) with a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may not take 
part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery to 
observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

T. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 
 

Page 74Agenda Item 9


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 28 January 2020
	8 Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual Report 2018-19
	HI Appendix A Policy Overview committe report 2018-19
	HI  Appendix B Evidence Case Studies. FINAL_

	9 Committee Annual Report 2019-20
	Appendix A FINAL draft POC Annual Report 2019-20
	Appendix B PolicyOverviewTORs
	Appendic C Policy Overview Committee Protocol June 2019


